## INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



	-		

# "As they trickle in, they trickle out": Recruiting Physicians in Rural Ontario

## Jennifer Ann Perzow

A Thesis

in

The Department

of

Sociology and Anthropology

Presented in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Master of Arts

Concordia University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

December 2000

© Jennifer Ann Perzow, 2000



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our lie Notre rélérance

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-59265-0



#### ABSTRACT

"As they trickle in, they trickle out": Recruiting Physicians in Rural Ontario

### Jennifer Ann Perzow

This exploratory study examines the recruitment of rural physicians in Ontario, Canada. Emphasis is on the social context in which practice location decisions are made, with four Spheres of Consideration playing a dominant role: financial, personal and social, professional, and educational. Eleven physicians and medical students were interviewed regarding the basis for their decisions to practice in rural areas. Their responses were compared to the major issues regarding recruitment found in the research literature. From a financial point of view, respondents mentioned the importance of student debt loads and government incentive programs for rural placement. Personal and social considerations include the special relations between physicians, their rural clients and neighbours, as well as their partners/spouse and children. Professional concerns included the legitimation of rural practice and more specifically, making rural medicine a specialty. Educational concerns referred to the need for exposure to rural issues and conditions in medical school. The thesis underscores the special characteristics of rural practice and the importance of specific training directed to its support. Recommendations for rural communities, governments, and the medical community are included.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The preparation of a thesis involves a paradoxical process — it is at once a highly individual process and a community effort. Researching and writing is a solitary (and often isolating) endeavour. Yet the most rewarding aspect of this process is the development of original ideas and hypotheses, a process which cannot survive without the input and dedication of the community surrounding the author. It is to this community that I extend my profound gratitude and appreciation.

First and foremost, I must thank the members of my committee for providing me with constant support and insightful commentaries on my work: I am profoundly grateful to my supervisor, Dr. Bill Reimer, whose enthusiasm, professionalism, mentorship, and tireless dedication to my work and academic training have formed the foundation of my graduate experience; Dr. Patrice LeClerc whose academic clarity and dedication have been a constant source of strength and support, and Dr. Neil Gerlach whose thoughtful consideration and continued optimism were invaluable. I am also deeply appreciative for the guidance and comraderie of the faculty and staff of the Department of Sociology and Anthropology.

This work would not have been possible without the generous assistance of my respondents, to whom I extend my thanks. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Patty

Vann and the Society of Rural Physicians for assisting me in recruiting respondents for my study.

Thanks must also go to my dear friends and colleagues for offering academic and emotional support throughout this process: Jane LeBrun, Kim Matthews, Anna Woodrow, Hasan Alam, Lyle Robinson, Stephanie Kalisky, Shannon Breedon, Liz Lautard, and Tom Saldanha. On a more personal note, I must also thank my family (The Perzows, Yachnins, Rabinovitches, Jacksons, Rudds, and Doughertys) for loving and supporting me in all possible ways before, during, and after this incredible adventure. Lastly, I thank my husband and partner Joshua Dougherty, whose love and support has known no limits and whose belief in me is the cornerstone of all that I endeavour to undertake.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. In	troductio	on	
	1.1	Contextualization of the area of inquiry	1
	1.2	Theoretical Framework	7
	1.3	Statement of Research Questions	8
	1.4	Expectations	9
	1.5	Statement of Purpose	10
	1.6	How and why I decided to investigate this subject	11
	1.7	Defining 'Rural'	11
2.	Theor	retical Framework	
	2.1	Introduction	13
	2.2	Spheres of Consideration	16
	2.3	Financial Sphere of Consideration	22
		2.3.1 Remuneration	22
		2.3.2 Incentive Packages	23
		2.3.3 Student Debt	25
		2.3.4 Tuition Fees	26
	2.4	Personal and Social Sphere of Consideration	27
		2.4.1 Personal Considerations	28
		2.4.2 Social Considerations	29
	2.5	Professional Sphere of Consideration	31
	2.6	Educational Sphere of Consideration	34
3.	Meth	hodology	
	3.1	Research Design	37
	32	Research Methods	

	3.3	Sample Selection	42
	3.4	Limitations of this study	44
4.	Findi	ngs and Discussion	
	4.1	Financial Sphere of Consideration	48
		4.1.1 Remuneration	49
		4.1.2 Financial Incentives and Student Debt	50
	4.2:	Personal and Social Sphere of Consideration	56
		4.2.1 Personal Considerations	57
		4.2.2 Social Considerations	60
	4.3:	Professional Sphere of Consideration	64
		4.3.1 The Doctor-Patient Relationship in a Rural Setting	64
		4.3.2 The Broad Scope of Rural Practice	67
		4.3.3 Less Support and More Responsibility	71
	4.4:	Educational Sphere of Consideration	73
		4.4.1 Exposure	73
		4.4.2 The Profile of Rural Medicine in Medical School	77
		4.4.3 Training	78
		4.4.4 Accessibility of Medical School to Rural Students	81
		4.4.5 Early Career Decision Making	82
5.	Reco	ommendations and Conclusions	
	5.1	Financial Sphere of Consideration	84
		5.1.1 Conclusions	84
		5.1.2 Recommendations for Rural Communities	87
		5.1.3 Recommendations for Governments	88
		5.1.4 Recommendations for the Medical Community	88
		5.1.5 Indications for Further Research	88
	5.2	Personal/Social Sphere of Consideration	89

	5.2.1 Conclusions	89
	5.2.2 Recommendations for Rural Communities	90
	5.2.3 Recommendations for Governments	90
	5.2.4 Recommendations for the Medical Community	91
	5.2.5 Indications for Further Research	91
5.3	Professional Sphere of Consideration	92
	5.3.1 Conclusions	92
	5.3.2 Recommendations for Rural Communities	93
	5.3.3 Recommendations for Governments	93
	5.3.4 Recommendations for the Medical Community	94
	5.3.5 Indications for Further Research	95
5.4	Educational Sphere of Consideration	96
	5.4.1 Conclusions.	96
	5.4.2 Recommendations for Rural Communities	97
	5.4.3 Recommendations for Governments	98
	5.4.4 Recommendations for the Medical Community	98
	5.4.5 Indications for Further Research	98
References	<b>.</b>	101
Appendix	A	112

# LIST OF TABLES

	44
Table One - Respondent Profiles	4:
I able Offe - Kespondent I Tomes	

Chapter One: Introduction

# 1.1 Contextualization of the area of inquiry

Health care in rural Canada is in crisis. Physicians working in rural and remote parts of the country often are overworked and feel underappreciated. As a result, many rural communities are unable to attract and keep physicians and health care in these areas is not sustainable (OReilly, 1994).

A great deal of Canadian research and literature exists on almost every aspect of health: biological, social, emotional, and spiritual. However, until recently, rural health care has occupied a peripheral position in Canadian medical sociology that mirrors the marginalization of rural health care within Canada's medical community. Despite the fact that Canada's geography is 90% rural and one-third of Canadians live in rural areas, very little is known outside of the medical community about the struggles and challenges of Canadian rural health care. Furthermore, only 11% of Canadian physicians practice outside of urban centres (Rourke, 1993) and there are less than half the proportion of physicians in rural areas as there are in urban areas (per 1000 population) (Statistics Canada, 1999). According to the Canadian Medical Association two problems relating to the lack of physicians are: 1) there simply are not enough doctors working in Canada right now with physician shortages in both rural and urban areas 2) there is a maldistribution of doctors who are working here (CMA Task Force, 1999).

As with urban health care, a thorough introduction to rural health care is time consuming. The realities of Canadian health care reflect the "interlocking set of ten provincial and two territorial" health insurance plans" (Health Canada, 1997) that form what Canadians know as Medicare. This thesis seeks to introduce rural Canadian health in broad strokes by focusing on one of the largest problems in rural health care: recruiting physicians. While the physician is one part of a health care system, she undoubtedly is the central force in a Western medical model.

Recruiting physicians can be challenging for numerous reasons. However, the struggle to obtain sustainable health care does not end when communities recruit physicians. The next problem with which they are often confronted is that physicians do not stay in rural areas. For this reason, I had initially intended to focus my attention on the retention of rural physicians. I was unable to do so due to difficulties in finding practicing rural physicians who were willing and able to participate in this study. In part, I was subject to the end result of the trend that I endeavoured to investigate: rural physicians are overworked. Retention is an important issue, worthy of study of its own accord.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The creation of an additional territory called Nunavut, in 1999, has increased the total number of territorial health insurance plans to three.

Physicians practicing in rural communities feel frustrated and powerless. They see a decline in the quality of rural health care and have little control over its fate. Rural communities have trouble recruiting and retaining doctors because of the heavy workload, long hours on-call, professional isolation, general lifestyle choices, and because of the lack of appropriate recognition that rural practice gets from mainstream, urban medicine. These problems lead to a high rate of burnout among rural doctors and consequently high turnover rates in rural communities (SRPC, 1997; OReilly, 1994).

In consideration of the professional and personal isolation, the demanding workload and the lack of teaching about rural medicine in medical schools, it is easy to see why rural communities often have such difficulty recruiting and retaining physicians. But what is being done about it? Federal and provincial governments have responded to rural communities in different ways, but it is the communities themselves and non-partisan medical associations that have generated the most positive movement towards an end to this crisis.

In an effort to combat the problem of rural recruitment and retention, both the federal and provincial governments have designed programs and invested a substantial amount of money in rural health care. The 1999 Federal Budget allocated \$50million towards rural and community health<sup>2</sup> (Health Canada, 1999). The Ontario Ministry of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Budget did not indicate how the money would be divided between 'rural' and 'community.

Health has invested more than \$83 million in rural and Northern health in the province, close to 80% of which is directed to the recruitment and retention of physicians (Ontario Ministry of Health, 1997: 2). In 1998, Canada's Health Minister Allan Rock announced the creation of a new branch of Health Canada whose primary interest is rural health. In creating this position, Mr. Rock stated that he wants "to ensure that the views and concerns of rural Canadians are better reflected in health policy and in the health system" (Health Canada, 1998). Before then, rural health issues had been absent from many National debates on health care. The National Forum on Health, released in 1996 by Health Canada, fails even to acknowledge the struggles of rural health care.

Because specific health care policies vary between provinces and territories, there are thirteen distinct sets of policies governing rural health in this country. In Quebec, recent medical graduates are paid only 70% of the standard fee-for-service rate if they practice in Montreal but are paid up to 115% of that same standard rate if they practice in a Northern community (Armstrong, 1994: 27). Additional bonuses also are paid to physicians who practice in designated areas. Restricting billing privileges is proving to be successful in Nova Scotia, but the Ministry of Health in British Columbia was sued for their "Physician Supply Measure" which reduced billing rates for doctors in urban areas (The House, 1998).

Forcing physicians to work in rural Canada does not address the real problems in rural health care. Moreover, it jeopardizes the health of rural communities and places

barriers between the rural doctor and the community. Often, both the doctor and the community may know that the doctors are there against their will. The implications of this forced labour on the quality of care that patients receive are not yet known.

Medical associations also provide support and services to rural doctors and rural communities. The Ontario Medical Association (OMA) organizes rural locums, or relief staff, for physicians wanting to take some time off, whether for a vacation or to attend a conference. Similarly, the OMA sponsors Continuing Medical Education programs that are specifically designed for rural practitioners. Other programmes, designed to attract recent medical graduates to rural practice often employ the use of limited term contracts. Physicians sign a contract for a 1 to 5 year period. In that time they will receive substantial cash and in-kind bonuses. When these contracts end, however, there is no guarantee that the physician will stay in the community. Even communities that are able to recruit physicians can have difficulty retaining them.

The World Organization of Family Doctors (WONCA) has been instrumental in detailing the troubles of rural medicine and offering practical solutions. The Organization recommends that undergraduate medical training expose students to rural medicine in order to attract them to rural practice. In their publication *Policy on Training for Rural Practice* (1995), the Organization discusses the key misperceptions of rural practice. They state that:

A number of attitudinal and perceptual barriers have been identified as discouraging medical graduates from entering rural practice....The key misperception is that rural practice is somehow 'second class medicine' (4).

In Canada, the recently formed Society of Rural Physicians of Canada (SRPC) has, among other things, integrated the WONCA guidelines into the Canadian health care system. Like the WONCA, the Society's members feel that "...education is the key to solving the problems of recruitment and retention of rural physicians" (1997: 29)

Medical schools have started to acknowledge rural medicine. Presently, most

Canadian medical schools provide some exposure to rural medicine for students who are
interested, and evaluations of those programs have been positive. The Department of
Family Practice at the University of British Columbia (UBC) initiated a rural training
program in 1982 (Whiteside and Mathias, 1996: 1114). An evaluation of the program
indicated that "graduates of the UBC rural training program consider themselves better
prepared for rural practice than non-program-trained rural physicians" (Whiteside and
Mathias, 1996: 1113). Moreover, the evaluation suggested that specific, structured
training was indeed helpful in preparing physicians for rural practice and by extension
also increased the number of new graduates practicing in rural areas (1120).

#### 1.2 Theoretical Framework

It is important to know what draws physicians to rural practice. Without that information, it is difficult to find solutions that are meaningful, appropriate and sustainable. For a sociologist, it is also important to know the social context in which those decisions are being made because individual choice is always affected by external conditions. Each physician has his or her own reasons for choosing rural practice. While each choice is indeed personal, physicians approach that choice from perspectives that are influenced by their social experiences. For example, a recent study by Easterbrook et al. (1999) suggests that doctors who grow up in rural areas are more likely than doctors who grow up in urban areas to choose and stay in rural practice. This suggests that the person who grows up in a rural area is used to the social context of rural life. A person of rural origin is used to knowing many people in town, and having many people know him; is accustomed to having limited access to shopping facilities and driving long distances to reach the nearest urban centre. This familiarity prepares physicians of rural origin for the personal and social aspects of being a rural doctor. That preparedness, in turn, means that they are likely to choose rural practice. Physicians who grew up in an urban centre are, at best, less familiar with the day to day experience of living and working in a rural area and are therefore less prepared. Lack of experience or preparation also will influence a physician's choice of practice location. This is one example of how social context can influence physician recruitment.

I propose, in Chapter Two, a theoretical framework that accounts for the influence of social context. I call that framework the Spheres of Consideration and I suggest that practice location decisions are being made within those spheres of consideration. The four spheres of consideration that I use in this thesis are: financial, social-emotional, professional, and educational.

## 1.3 Statement of Research Questions

Physicians decide whether to practice in an urban or rural location. Logic dictates that asking physicians about their decision will help us identify solutions to the problem of physician recruitment. Asking rural doctors about recruitment is the first step to solving the health care crisis in rural Canada. My inquiry is two-pronged. On the one hand, I will be examining the reasons that physicians and medical students claim are the determining factors in their choice of practice location. While this is a good start, there is no way to verify or confirm that the factors that physicians report as being important are variables when the time to make the decision arrives. Often, in social science research, we see a discrepancy between people's perceptions and what they actually do. In order to glean more information from this study, I propose the second prong in my approach to the problem. I will identify the social and personal conditions in which those responses are given. In conclusion, my research questions are: What issues are cited in the literature regarding rural physician recruitment and retention? What issues are cited regarding rural recruitment and retention by physicians and medical students? To what extent are these

issues congruent and comprehensive? What is a useful framework for research into rural recruitment and retention? What is a useful framework for policy suggestions to improve the present situation of rural recruitment and retention?

## 1.4 Expectations

Prior research in the field of rural physician recruitment suggests a number of structural factors that encourage physicians to locate in rural areas. The following factors are highlighted in the literature and I expect to find similar factors identified by my respondents. The respondent:

- feels adequately trained for rural practice
- has adequate professional support
- foresees that he or she will be able to integrate into the community
- is able to address his or her spouse or partner's happiness
- feels opportunities for children (education, cultural, extra-curricular, etc.)
  are adequate
- receives financial compensation beyond standard remuneration
- has interest in and aptitude for rural life
- has professional aspirations that are adequately met

## 1.5 Statement of Purpose

Rural medicine, largely marginalized by both sociology and medicine, has been in the spotlight recently, due in large part to the efforts and dedication of rural people. Issues concerning rural communities are slowly moving from the margin to the centre. With some exceptions, the sociological community in Canada has been slow to respond to this area of inquiry, which is ripe for sociological analysis. More is published about rural medicine in medical journals than in sociological journals. However, rural medicine also has been marginalized within the medical community and the literature suggests it is often not taken seriously within the urban-based medical community. In this instance, the urban biases of both sociology and medicine have negated the validity and importance of rural life.

I begin to fill that void in order to benefit the sociological and medical communities, as well as the rural communities that struggle to keep doctors among them. My hope is that this work will contribute to the social activist nature of sociology, will suggest that sociology should not remove itself from the subjects under its investigation and will inspire a different sense of social responsibility in social scientists in general. I also hope that the medical community will take from this research some indications concerning its role in the marginalization of rural communities and peoples, and seek to change. Finally, I hope this work will inform rural communities and policy makers about potential solutions to the problem of physician recruitment in rural health care.

# 1.6 How and why I decided to investigate this subject

The need for patients to advocate for themselves has always interested me and in thinking of how to apply that advocacy concept to communities, I developed an interest in community health care. While working for a national research initiative organized by the Canadian Rural Revitalization Foundation (CRRF) entitled The New Rural Economy: Options and Choices (NRE), I became more conscious of rural struggles and triumphs.

Over time I saw a clear link between my interest in community health care and the struggles rural residents were having getting and keeping doctors in their communities.

The NRE has designated thirty-two sites across Canada to participate in a comparative study about the economic and social realities in rural Canada. My work with the NRE has been a superb academic and personal learning experience, and has sustained my interest in and desire to assist rural communities in the creation of sustainable health care in their communities. Through my work with CRRF and the NRE, community health care moved from being an abstract, academic construct to a tangible social quandary affecting the lives of real people.

# 1.7 Defining 'Rural'

Defining *rural* for the purposes of this study has been a complex task. Finding definitions of the word has not been the problem. The OECD indicates that a community is considered 'rural communities' if it has a population density of less than 150 per square

kilometre (OECD, 1994). I have felt unable to use such specific definitions for two reasons. First, to do so would be incongruous with the small but growing body of literature studying rural medicine. This literature does not define *rural* in a specific fashion, referring not only to *rural* but to *remote*. The exact distinction between the two is rarely made although some distinctions are implied. The second, and more consequential reason for not defining *rural* in a specific way stems from a methodological concern, that doing so would potentially limit the pool of respondents who were willing to participate in this study. I decided to allow people to self-define *rural*. The implications of this decision are further discussed in Chapter Three.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For a more comprehensive discussion of defining rural for the purposes of health, and other, research, see Leduc 1997

Chapter Two: Theoretical Framework

### 2.1 Introduction

What issues are cited in the literature regarding rural physician recruitment and retention? What issues are cited regarding rural recruitment and retention by physicians and medical students? To what extent are these issues congruent and comprehensive? What is a useful framework for research into rural recruitment and retention? What is a useful framework for policy suggestions to improve the present situation of rural recruitment and retention? In this chapter, I explore the answers to these questions commonly found in the literature, and develop and employ a theoretical model to assist with this task.

Much of the literature on and discussion around rural physician recruitment exists within the medical community. While this is changing, as researchers in the social sciences and policy makers become increasingly aware and interested in the various aspects of rural health care, there are several implications of the origins of this research that must be addressed.

I consider it a positive thing that the research and discussion in this field were instigated and for the most part developed by the research subjects. Rural physicians have been speaking out (formally - in academic research and publications, and informally - on

internet listserves) for many years. It is essential that physicians' voices be an integral part of identifying the problems and suggesting some solutions.

There are several caveats of which we must beware. The first and perhaps most obvious is that physicians are not the only cohort involved in this problem; rural community members are the ones who are not getting the medical care that they need. It is ultimately on their behalf that one undertakes research in this field -- with a hope and intention to improve the lives of rural Canadians. Likewise, nurses and other medical personnel are involved. Advances can and do come from realizing that ultimately medical personnel (physicians, nurses, and others) and other community members share common goals.

Research conducted by the medical community is rarely grounded within a theoretical framework. Its full potential remains unexplored until it is placed within a theoretical framework that can help us better understand why things are the way they are. My hope is that employing a sociological lens in exploring questions of physician retention will contextualize the problem in a new and helpful way.

Sociology can help us overcome a third caveat. To conduct a thorough and rigorous examination of this topic, we cannot rely solely on the explanations described in the medical literature. Sociologists examine what is *not* said as well as what *is* said and ask questions that have not been asked.

Although the scope of this thesis is primarily limited to recruitment issues, the value of addressing retention issues should not be overlooked. Recruiting physicians requires different strategies and involves different variables than retaining them. While the two issues are not mutually exclusive, there are enough differences between them that they necessitate individual attention. Many strategies employed by governments favour recruitment issues over retention. That is why, despite substantial energy and money invested, so many communities remain without physicians. It is not enough to ask "How do we *get* a physician?", we also must ask "How do we *keep* a physician." The tendency to conflate the recruitment and retention, in both theory and practice, hinders efforts to find manageable and appropriate solutions. Retention recently started to be investigated independently of recruitment, although Cutchin reports that the two are often conflated (1997). He indicates that:

...the best explanation for why we have been slow to develop theories to explain retention is the ongoing assumption that the same factors involved in locational behavior are at work in retention. It must be realized, however, that the decision to locate in a place is not the same as the decision to remain there. The decision to locate in a rural practice setting occurs largely from outside that setting. The decision to remain takes place from within the practice setting and arises from the stream of experience there. (1662)

# 2.2 Spheres of Consideration

Although Cutchin's (1997) work focuses on retention, it is likewise helpful in developing a theoretical framework to determine what factors influence physicians to choose rural practice and is the work from which I take my theoretical cue. From his research involving rural physicians, Cutchin concludes that the key to physician retention is in community integration. He posits that physicians are more likely to stay in rural practice when they feel integrated within the community. He adds that:

methods and 'factors' of satisfaction determined from the context of the initial locational decision, we must recognize that complex and dynamic social relations affect rural physicians and their decision-making process within the particular rural setting (1672).

In other words, it is not sufficient to identify factors that influence retention, we must also understand the social context within which those decisions are being made. To do so, Cutchin identifies three domains that influence integration: the physician, the medical community, and the community-at-large.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> An elaboration on Cutchin's domains is beyond the scope of this thesis.

The use of theoretical tools in additional works (Pope et al, 1998; Crandall et al., 1990) marks the increased presence of the social scientific community in informing this dialogue. Pope et al. (1998) offer categories that describe the decision making process, but do not explain the context of those decisions. They inform us that physicians balance lifestyle with three conceptual categories in making their decision: community commitment, medical confidence, compensation (broadly defined). They acknowledge that "[f]or every factor judged positive by one physician there is another who sees the same situation in a different light" (210-11) but do not suggest why that might be so. The spheres that I explore in this thesis attempt to speak to that issue.

Crandall et al. (1990) provide conceptual models with which they describe various efforts at recruitment and retention. The models are: affinity models, economic incentive models, practice characteristics models, and indenture models. Affinity Models, they suggest, are most commonly used and are "...premised on the idea that physicians choose rural practice because they find it desirable" (26). Economic Incentive Models suggest that physicians act "as rational economic beings" (29) and will work in rural areas providing that it is cost-effective to do so. Practice Characteristic Models (30) address non-economic aspects of rural medicine, such as professional support. Finally, Indenture models (31) refer to forced service in rural areas.

Crandall et al.'s work benefits literature in this field in two ways. First, it does a good job of summarizing recruitment models. Second, in doing so, the work highlights a

number of important factors that influence rural recruitment such as: professional support and rural origin. However, the Models that Crandall et al. employ are of limited use in this thesis. The authors fail to provide a critical analysis of the factors that they identify as being important. For example, when discussing Affinity Models they state that "...recruitment to rural practice occurs...because the physician is from a rural background" (26). Rural origin is an important factor in both recruitment and retention, as I discuss in Section 2.4.1, but the authors do not explain why it is an important factor. The goal of this thesis is to explore the underlying social conditions that explain why, in this case, rural origin is important.

Recruitment literature indicates that there are many reasons why rural communities have difficulty getting and keeping doctors. However, what also becomes clear is that the reasons one doctor cites as disadvantages of rural practice are the precise reasons another doctor finds rural practice appealing. As Cutchin (1997) suggests, it is not enough to simply list the reasons why doctors do or do not choose rural practice. Literature in the field of rural medicine suggests that people have similar reasons for both decisions.

Many reasons are cited as being responsible for the difficulty of recruiting and retaining physicians in rural areas. Numerous authors (Conte et al., 1992; Rourke, 1993; OReilly, 1994; MacLellan, 1996; CMA, 1997b; OMH, 1997; Wilson, 1999) have identified the following factors as the main challenges in rural medicine: formal training,

professional support, social integration, spouse or partner's happiness, opportunities for children, financial compensation, interest in and aptitude for rural life, and professional aspirations.

Take professional support as an example. There are fewer doctors, specialists, and diagnostic tools in rural areas. This means that physicians who are working in a rural community probably are doing so with less professional support than they might have had in an urban centre. Some physicians identify this aspect of rural medicine as a disadvantage. They do not want to work in an environment with so little professional support, and refer to themselves as 'isolated' from the larger medical community. Other physicians see minimal professional support as an advantage of rural practice, enjoy being challenged, and express appreciation for the 'independent' nature of their practice. What accounts for the difference between these two perceptions of the same variable? I suspect that the answer lies within the social context and experiences of the physician in question. While this hypothesis has not yet been explored, I suspect that, in this case, medical education is related to perception. Physicians trained to work independently are likely to see this variable as an advantage while physicians trained to depend on other medical professionals see this variable as a disadvantage. In this example, the context of medical education influences the perception of rural medicine.

In conclusion, most literature in the field of rural physician recruitment identifies variables that influence recruitment. I submit that it is insufficient to simply list those

variables. In a simple list there is no mechanism to help us understand why these variables influence recruitment or how they interact with one another. While each person's life experiences are unique, there are similarities in the context in which these decisions are made. We need to develop a mechanism or theoretical framework that will enable us to understand why and how those variables are important. Drawing on Cutchin's work, as noted above, I propose that we must identify the social context in which those variables exist. His domains form the basis of how I identify and understand social context, namely through the examination of spheres of consideration.

Spheres of consideration are interrelated groupings of variables that recur in both the literature and in my own research. These spheres represent the space where decisions are made about choosing rural or urban practice. They also represent the variety of social factors that influence those decisions. I have identified four spheres of consideration: financial, personal/social, professional, and educational. Financial compensation is the main variable in the financial sphere. Comprised of more than salary and incentive packages, the financial sphere also houses questions of debt and professional aspirations. Family considerations, such as a spouse or partner's and/or children's happiness, are subsumed within the personal and social sphere. Social integration is similarly included.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The spheres are not meant to be mutually exclusive. Variables, such as financial compensation, often reappear in more than one sphere. Nor is this an exhaustive list, but a recommended starting point. It is expected that the spheres will change and grow as we come to understand more clearly questions of rural retention.

Questions of professional support and aspirations are the main elements in the professional sphere, although it does often overlap quite heavily with the financial sphere. Finally, the educational sphere refers to the training and preparation for rural practice that physicians receive during their formal medical training. As we will see, each of these spheres is influenced by several different sources. Government programs and policies influence the amount of money a physician receives and the kind of support available to him or her. Communities vary greatly in what they can offer to a physician, both in terms of formal and informal support. The medical community plays an important role in training and supporting rural physicians. I will examine the role of the government, community, and medical community in each of the four spheres.

As indicated, this model affords the investigator an opportunity to understand how and why decisions are made. This discovery is important for two reasons. First, it allows us to see that recruitment is more than simply a factor of individual choice that is beyond the influence of government or community. Ultimately, it is the doctor who decides where he or she will practice medicine, but we now can see how social context influences the decision. We may not have much control over the psychological determinations of an individual doctor but through public policy we can influence the spheres in which that doctor makes decisions about his or her practice location that may in turn influence personal decision-making.

# 2.3 Financial Sphere of Consideration

Financial discussions account for a substantial amount of the dialogue surrounding rural recruitment. Four issues continue to emerge as important: professional remuneration, incentive packages, debt load, and education costs. Remuneration refers to the income that a physician receives (excluding any income acquired through financial incentives) for his or her work and are discussed in Section 2.3.1. Incentive packages, discussed in Section 2.3.2, refer to the financial bonuses that governments offer physicians who are willing to work in specific rural communities that have been designated (by the government) as underserviced. Section 2.3.3 addresses the impact that student debt has on physician recruitment. Finally, the rising cost of medical education, which relates directly to student debt, is examined in Section 2.3.4.

#### 2.3.1 Remuneration

The current structure for remuneration has been constructed to be beneficial to a doctor practicing in an urban context. The fee-for-service payment method compensates physicians for each patient visit (for physical examinations) or for specified services (sutures, burn treatments, etcetera). Income, therefore, is dependent upon the number of patients that a physician sees in practice. Additionally, physicians are compensated for on-call hours irrespective of whether or not they see a patient while on call. Currently, physicians in rural areas are paid on the same basis as their urban counterparts. There are

some claims that using similar payment methods for rural and urban areas is unjust because a rural physician has a smaller population base which results in fewer billable visits for physicians.

Salary negotiations are on-going between rural physicians and the provincial government. Instead of recognizing the needs and practical experiences of rural physicians, and developing and implementing a remuneration system which would better reflect the different work-load of a rural doctor (ie. that they may see fewer patients but spend more time with each one because the cannot refer the patient elsewhere as easily as an urban physician can), rural doctors are forced to operate under a system not constructed with their needs in mind.

# 2.3.2 Incentive packages

Financial incentives are the preferred "solution" employed by the provincial government to encourage physicians to go to rural areas. Not all rural areas are eligible for incentive packages. The provincial government first identifies those communities which it feels are underserviced. Only physicians working in those areas are eligible for financial incentives. Most incentives programs in Ontario and the rest of Canada work on a contractual basis. Physicians are offered money in addition to the standard fee-for-service and on-call remuneration. The Ontario government employs this technique frequently, as do other provinces. Crandall's (1990) report on international recruitment

and retention practices notes that the economic incentive model is also popular in other countries.

While the financial incentive model is a popular one, it does not seem to be effective in keeping physicians in rural areas. There is little empirical data available to identify the effect of incentive programs on recruitment rates, but financial bonuses have not solved the problem of rural physician shortages (Hardy, 1998: 8). Furthermore, incentives packages are not recommended by most physicians, who see them as being "out of step" with what is needed to attract and keep physicians in rural areas (Hardy, 1998: 8). Incentive models are not widely supported for three reasons.

First, incentive packages do not *keep* physicians in rural areas. Their focus is recruiting, not retaining, physicians. As discussed in Chapter One, bringing a physician to a rural area is not enough if that physician leaves after a couple of years of service because the community is then in the same position that it was in initially - doctorless. Communities that have more than one doctor are likewise affected by high turnover rates. Building professional ties and support can be difficult when your colleagues change on a regular basis. The breakdown of those professional connections can lead to a breakdown

in professional support.<sup>6</sup> Professional support is often indicated as being a variable which affects both physician recruitment and retention.

Second, there is a great deal of concern about money being the primary factor that brings a physician into a rural area. Few rural residents, no matter how desperate to have access to a physician, want a doctor who is in their community only for the money. The motivation to provide quality care to patients does not stem from financial considerations.

Finally, incentive packages give a false sense that the problem is being adequately addressed and dealt with. They mask other issues that need to be addressed such as student debt and rising tuition costs. Sections 2.3.3 and 2.3.4 demonstrate how all of these issues are interrelated.

#### 2.3.3 Student Debt

Student debt has only recently been acknowledged as a factor involved in recruitment. Hardy (1998) suggests that student debts make people wary of investing in a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Ultimately, whether or not a physician feels that she is professionally supported in her work may be as much perception as reality. The concept of professional support is, to some extent, socially constructed. A physician can work with other doctors and still not feel professionally supported. Likewise, a physician working alone may feel adequately supported. While deserving of further attention, an in-depth discussion of this process is beyond the scope of this thesis.

rural practice. The concern, he explains, is that physicians graduate from medical school with substantial debt loads and are primarily concerned with paying back their loans.

Student debts have increased substantially in recent years, due in large part to the rising tuition costs of medical schools.

Because Ontario employs a fee-for-service payment scheme, physicians who see more patients per day make more money. Rural areas have a smaller population base and consequently a smaller patient base than do urban areas. Physicians with large debts are not always certain that they will be able to see enough patients to repay their loans promptly. An additional concern when the money is guaranteed (as is the case with incentive packages) is that the physician will leave the community as soon as the debt is repaid. Increased debt loads and incentive packages together make recruitment unlikely.

#### 2.3.4 Tuition Fees

"Tuition costs may help place docs where needed" was the title of a recent article that appeared in *The Medical Post*. - a weekly medical newspaper (Quinn, 1998). The article explained that the Ontario government was considering offering financial aid to medical students who agreed to practice in rural locations in response to "skyrocketing" tuition fees. Eminent deregulation of tuition fees for Ontario medical schools could mean that fees double in one year, placing students in unprecedented fiscal crisis.

Tepper and Rourke express concern in their recent article that "[t]he recent and unprecedented increases in tuition at most of Canada's medical schools will only add to the problem [of recruiting medical students from urban areas and not having enough rural students]" (1999: 1173). Tepper and Rourke's concern touches on the question of who can afford to go to medical school. Data suggests that students from rural areas are more likely to choose and stay in rural practice than their urban counterparts (Easterbrook et al., 1999). However, it is not clear that rural students have the same access to medical school as urban students, finances and school grades being among the concerns. The importance of rural origin in physician retention is discussed in Section 2.4.

In conclusion, factors within the financial sphere that are suggested to influence physician recruitment are: remuneration, financial compensation, student debt, and medical school tuition fees. In Chapter Four I compare these factors with those identified as important by my respondents.

# 2.4 Personal and Social Sphere of Consideration

The decision to choose rural practice involves considerations of a personal and social nature. While I have combined both considerations within one sphere, I discuss them separately below, in Sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.2. The personal considerations that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The impact of rural origin on retention is further discussed in Section 2.6

affect rural retention are: interest in and aptitude for rural life, rural origin, spousal contentment, and opportunities for children. Social integration, and the social role of the rural physician are included as social considerations that affect rural recruitment.

#### 2.4.1 Personal Considerations

What do physicians like about rural practice? A landmark report published in 1995 by the World Association of Family Doctors (WONCA), reported that the

...great attraction of rural practice is the country
environment and lifestyle which is associated with a better
family life in a good place to raise children....Social
satisfactions of rural practice identified by rural doctors
include community standing and respect, coupled with a
sense of belonging to a stable community, and enjoyment
of outdoor living with many recreational opportunities
(WONCA, 1995: 9).

The personality and background of a physician also is a factor in recruitment.

According to a 1999 inter-disciplinary study published by Easterbrook et al. in the

Canadian Medical Association Journal, physicians who were raised in rural communities

were 2.3 times more likely to choose a rural practice than those from non-rural origins and 2.5 times more likely to stay.

An overworked doctor, whether urban or rural, has little time or energy for home life. The physician contemplating rural practice may envision a relaxed lifestyle and good quality of life but be too busy to take advantage of rural life. There also is the consideration of educational opportunities for children, and, often, there are no job opportunities for the physician's spouse or partner. This is no small consideration as two incomes often are essential for financial survival. Feelings of social isolation often are reported (OMH, 1997; Cutchin, 1997; Pope et al., 1998; Wilson, 1999), especially by the physician's spouse or partner. Social isolation can be explained partially by the confusion of social roles that physicians confront in rural practice.

## 2.4.2 Social Considerations

Physicians generally occupy well defined social roles. However, the rural physician occupies a somewhat different social role than the urban doctor. Western

The exact distinctions between the life of a rural and urban doctor cannot be generalized. Certainly, there are urban doctors who are highly overworked just as there are rural doctors who enjoy a relaxed work environment. Presumably, there are both similarities and differences between rural and urban medicine and research is required to determine their impact. The concepts raised in this work reflect the literature in the field of rural physician recruitment.

medical practice is predicated upon substantial social distance being placed between a doctor and his or her patient. The doctor-patient relationship is socially constructed to discourage social interaction between physician and patient. This distance allows the physician to retain objectivity about the patient and not get emotionally involved, which might affect his or her treatment decisions. Additionally, this distance serves a mechanism of social control. There is a hierarchy in the traditional doctor-patient relationship that places the physician in power. In an urban setting, the interactions between doctors and patients are confined to the physical space of the office. Moreover, the patients under an individual doctor's care are unlikely to know one another. Such rigid divisions do not exist in rural communities. In a rural community, maintaining social distance between physicians and their patients is more difficult because your patients are also your neighbours and friends. Mediating the spaces between doctor, neighbour, and friend is a constant struggle for rural practitioners.

The factors in the personal and social sphere of consideration that affect rural physician recruitment are: interest in and aptitude for rural life, rural origin, spousal contentment, opportunities for children, and the social role of the rural physician.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The extent to which a physician is able to integrate within the community in which he or she works is important. Cutchin's work on physician satisfaction and retention indicates that socio-cultural integration is a primary factor in both recruitment and retention (1994, 1996). Although important, Cutchin's emphasis on retention, as opposed to recruitment, places his work outside the scope of this thesis. The extent to which physicians make practice location decisions based on a perception that they will be able to integrate is a question worthy of consideration and research.

## 2.5 Professional Sphere of Consideration

The profession of medicine differs between rural and urban areas. These differences, as discussed below and in Chapter Four, make an important contribution to our understanding of physician recruitment. The doctor-patient relationship, an integral part of the medical profession, seems to be less rigid in rural areas than it is in urban areas. This is so partly because of the breadth and scope of rural practice. For both of these reasons, rural physicians often work with less professional support and more responsibility than their urban counterparts.

Rural practice is quite distinct from urban practice. In fact, many rural health care professionals argue that it should be a specialty unto itself, like cardiology or pediatrics. The rural practitioner relies on a greater variety of skills than does the urban physician. As we have seen, this develops out of necessity - the common urban response of referring patients elsewhere is not possible for rural doctors. For this reason, rural doctors need to be proficient in many dialects of the language of medicine. They must be pediatricians, cardiologists, dermatologists, emergency medicine specialists and many others. The variety of cases that the rural doctor sees is far greater than her urban counterpart (MacLellan, 1996; Kingsmill, 1997; Pope et al, 1998).

Hospital admission privileges mark another distinction between rural and urban medicine. Generally, urban family doctors do not admit their patients to a hospital.

Specialists, to whom the patient has been referred by the family physician, determine whether or not the case warrants hospitalization. In contrast, the low numbers of specialists in rural areas necessitates that family doctors interact directly with nearby hospitals. Obtaining hospital privileges often is easier for rural family physicians than urban ones (Henderson, 1996). Because of this expanded role, rural family physicians generally follow patients through a wider range of their health care experiences.

Family physicians are "front-line" medical personnel. They are generally the first medical professional with whom a patient consults with a health-related concern. When a family physician can no longer help the patient with their particular health concern, the patient is referred to a specialist who then assumes care of the patient. Rural doctors often are professionally isolated and support services in communities vary. In some cases there may be full laboratory services or even a hospital. In other communities, there may be new, state-of-the-art equipment but no trained personnel to operate it. While in another community there may be no support staff at all. Rural physicians cannot refer patients to specialists as easily as urban physicians because there are few specialists in rural areas (OReilly, 1994; CMA, 1997b; Pope et al., 1998). Consequently, rural physicians often need to be specialists as well as family physicians.

The professional life of a rural doctor is demanding in content and in hours. Rural doctors by necessity offer a wider range of services than their urban colleagues

(WONCA, 1995: 13). The heavy workload and on-call hours of professional life in rural

communities can have negative consequences for personal as well as professional endeavours. Isolation, long hours, and lifestyle choices deter some physicians from considering rural practice. For others, however, these are not deterrents, but incentives to establish a rural practice:

Rural doctors identify a series of key attractions of rural practice. First is the greater variety of practice that often includes obstetrics, surgery, anaesthetics and emergency medicine together with hospital access and care of the acutely ill. Rural practitioners are much more likely to be looking after individual patients for all of their medical problems on a continuing basis... (WONCA, 1995: 9).

What is it that makes these factors an advantage to some physicians and a disadvantage to others? I address that question in Chapter Four.

Barer and Stoddart, in a report entitled *Improving Access to Needed Medical*Services in Rural and Remote Canadian Communities (1999), suggest that sustainable health care in rural areas may be achieved by integrating non-physician health care professionals into the rural health care model:

The expanded deployment of personnel such as nurse practitioners, with training sufficient to provide a considerable range of primary care services, enabled by appropriate adjustments on the regulatory

front to allow expanded scopes of practice (e.g. prescribing) offers, in our view, significant untapped potential to address the problems of access to primary care (33).

The Society of Rural Physicians of Ontario hosted, at their annual conference in 1998, a discussion on nurse practitioners and rural doctors. While little exists in the literature about this topic, the Society seems to be open to the suggestion (SRPC, 1998).

## 2.6 Educational Sphere of Consideration

Generally speaking, rural communities have trouble recruiting and retaining physicians because medical students have not been adequately exposed to and prepared for the realities of rural practice. Nor will they be, says Society of Rural Physicians of Canada president Dr. Keith MacLellan, "...until rural medicine is recognized as a discipline" and given the recognition that it deserves in the broader medical community (Kingsmill, 1997: 141).

Canadian medical schools, traditionally, teach urban students (OReilly, 1994;
Tepper and Rourke, 1999; Wilson, 1999) urban medicine. Most medical students are
from urban areas due in part to the structural and political disadvantages that rural
students face in access to educational services and other determinants of career choice
(Tepper and Rourke, 1999). For this reason, some argue that more rural students should
be admitted to medical school no matter what it takes to get them there (WONCA, 1995;

Easterbrook). While there is no guarantee that a student will choose and stay in a rural practice simply because she is from a rural community, rural origin is positively correlated to both recruitment and retention (Easterbrook, 1999).

Another important factor to consider is the medical school and its faculty. Traditional medical curricula are urbanly biased and most doctors teaching medicine, whether in the classroom or in the hospital, are urban doctors: "Most of this training [undergraduate medical education] takes place in city hospitals where the emphasis is technology, the benefits of the city and of specialization...It is a very urban-centred approach and many graduates are blinkered when it comes to appreciating what happens outside the doors of those university hospitals." (John Wootton in Wilson, 1999) Rural medicine has not been visible in Canadian medical schools. This is of great consequence in view of what we know about processes of socialization and professionalization. The lack of role models and mentors for aspiring rural physicians indicates to medical students that rural practice is not a viable option. Furthermore, medical students are being forced to decide very early in their training what direction they want to follow. Early career decision-making affects where people decide to practice (Tepper and Rourke, 1999: 1173) and rural medicine loses out when people make their career choice before a rural practice has been presented as an option.

Medical schools have started to acknowledge rural medicine. Presently, most

Canadian medical schools provide some exposure to rural medicine for students who are

interested, and evaluations of those programs have been positive (Rabinowitz et al., 1999; Moores et al., 1998; CMA, 1997b). The Department of Family Practice at the University of British Columbia (UBC) initiated a rural training program in 1982 (Whiteside and Mathias, 1996: 1114). A recent evaluation of the program indicated that "graduates of the UBC rural training program consider themselves better prepared for rural practice than non-program-trained rural physicians" (Whiteside and Mathias, 1996: 1113). Moreover, the evaluation suggested that specific, structured training was indeed helpful in preparing physicians for rural practice and by extension also increased the number of new graduates practicing in rural areas (1120). Rourke (1996) also acknowledges the importance of training physicians to work in rural areas, and adds that rural doctors should have play a role as teachers in medical school.

The reasons why physicians choose to practice in rural locations are numerous and varied. In this chapter, I have presented the variables commonly identified as being important to physician recruitment. I propose the implementation of a theoretical model to best understand the social context in which those variables operate. Four Spheres of Consideration (financial, social/personal, professional, and educational) provide us with a more thorough understanding of the factors involved in rural physician recruitment. In the following chapter, I explore the methodology used to obtain original data about physician recruitment.

Chapter Three: Methodology

Section 3.1 Research Design

Due to differences in health care policy between provinces and the requirements of

this M.A. Thesis, it is not feasible for me to include rural physicians in all provinces. To do

so would mean including 13 (one for each province and territory) different health care

policies which is beyond the scope of this project. Additionally, had I interviewed

respondents from across the country, it would be difficult to compare the results because

health care systems differ. Differences are particularly abundant in the ways in which

different provincial governments have addressed and tried to resolve the problem of

physician retention in rural areas. Because of the difficulty in creating a national picture due

to provincial variations the task then was to choose one province as a focus for my research.

As I was not confident in my ability to conduct in-depth interviews in French I looked

outside my home province.

I chose Ontario for three reasons. First, Ontario boasts the largest population base of

any province. My pool of potential respondents was small to begin with and Ontario's large

general population indicated that there might be more rural physicians than in provinces with

smaller populations. Second, I was familiar with the conditions of the Ontario health care

system. Finally, Ontario is home to many professional and research-based organizations that

37

were able to provide substantial support to the project in terms of access to physicians and existing data.

Given the small body of both literature and research (particularly sociological) in Canadian rural health, this project is largely exploratory in nature. In order to gain the most amount of information from respondents, quantitative data collection was accomplished using the survey method. Interviews provided me with the best option for exploratory research because they are interactive in a way that mailed questionnaires are not. Furthermore, they allow the interviewer to be more responsive to the interview subject. Additionally, my respondent pool is made up of particularly busy people, and I suspected that my response rate would be greater with interviews.

More specifically, I designed an interview guide (Appendix A) constructed of both open and closed questions. Although I had several hypothesis in mind in constructing the interview guide, I decided to follow a general format of loosely structured, open questions. The reason for this was that although I had several hypotheses in mind while constructing the interview guide, I did not want to include questions that would be leading for the respondent. I wanted to know if respondents would report the same factors, and had to leave them room to reply as they desired. I was able to glean more specific information through the use of probes. Open questions permit respondents room to answer complex questions. As this research deals with an extremely complex issue, open questions were the most appropriate. Because I was looking for thoughts and opinions, I wanted to be certain that

respondents felt they were engaging in a non-hostile dialogue, with them as the primary speakers, as opposed to a formal, structured interview session.

Due to the geographical distance between myself and the respondents, as well as the distances between respondents, travelling to meet with each respondent for face-to-face interviews was not feasible. I decided instead to conduct telephone interviews. This allowed me to engage in a type of interview similar to face-to-face without additional travelling costs. While I was unable to enlist visual observation as a technique in the interview, I was able to complete the interviews faster because I was using the telephone. Finally, telephone interviews were more convenient for the respondents who, as medical professionals, are subject to last minute changes of schedule that can be more easily accommodated in telephone than in face-to-face interviews, particularly when extensive travelling is involved.

## 3.2 Research Methods

Making contact with potential respondents was problematic at the beginning of my research for several reasons. First, I was not based in the same province as my respondents. Second, I am not in the medical community. I initially had hoped to be able to interview respondents in pre-designated communities in Ontario. Doing so would have enabled me to coordinate my research with the on-going research project of the New Rural Economy (NRE). I set about obtaining the names of the doctors in those communities from a directory that is published annually listing all licensed medical practitioners in Canada. I discovered

that due to the high turnover rate of physicians in rural areas, by the time I was able to identify who was working in a particular community, they were no longer there. Furthermore, the entire pool of potential respondents was small<sup>10</sup> and I would not have been able to interview enough respondents if even one or two were unwilling to participate in the research.

Consequently, I enlisted the assistance of the Society of Rural Physicians of Canada (SRPC) and a decision was made to access potential respondents through the SRPC listserv (RuralMed). The listserv has approximately 500 members, and although there are not strict rules about who can join (meaning that of those 500 participants, not all are rural physicians) it was the best option for finding respondents. In total, I posted two calls for participation on the server explaining who I was and what my research was about. Interested parties were asked to contact me via email or through phone, fax, or written mail. All respondents made initial contact via email and all contact, apart from the actual interview, was made through email. A mutually agreed upon time was then set for the interview. In 4 cases, the respondent did not answer the phone when I called at the designated time. In those cases I left messages saying that I would call back in 15 or 20 minutes. When I called again, all but 1 respondent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>According to the Society of Rural Physicians of Canada, there were 1044 rural family physicians in Ontario in 1999 (SRPC, 2000).

picked up the phone. In those cases where the respondent did not answer on the second attempt, I left a message asking to reschedule via email.<sup>11</sup>

In addition to posting a call for participation on RuralMed, I enlisted the snowball technique to further expand my respondent list. This technique was ineffective. In total, I was able to recruit one more respondent because of a contact that I was given. I did not hear anything from those respondents who said that they would pass along my coordinates to friends and/or colleagues.

Respondents were advised that the interviews would last approximately 30 minutes, which was an accurate estimation. Most of the respondents were at home during the interview. Two respondents participated in the interview from their place of work. The majority of the interviews took place in the evening, during the week.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>There are methodological implications to my use of RuralMed as the primary access point to my respondents. These implications are discussed in detail in section 3.4 of this thesis.

### Section 3.3 Sample Selection

Of the eleven respondents, five were at some stage of their undergraduate medical training, three were completing their residency and an additional three were general practitioners. Seven respondents were female and four were male. The youngest respondent was born in 1977 and the eldest was born in 1958. Five respondents were married, one was engaged to be married and the rest were single. Only two respondents had children.

Only one respondent was currently practicing medicine in a rural location but all but one of the respondents expressed an intention to practice in a rural area in the future (within the next five years). Six of the respondents had lived in a rural area prior to their undergraduate medical training.

All the respondents in this study were in Ontario, although I also talked to MDs from other provinces, as well as one Nurse Practitioner. I had decided not to turn away respondents since I felt that they would be able to add to my overall knowledge about the subject material and might know someone in Ontario, but I indicated that I would not be able to use the data derived from their interviews directly in my thesis. Table 1 shows a breakdown of respondents by various demographic characteristics.

**Table One: Respondent Profiles** 

	Date of Birth	Gender	Marital Status	Children	Professional Stage	Currently in Rural Area	Has spent time in Rural before	Plans to practice in a rural location	Income*
R#I	1969	М	Married	по	resident	no	no	yes	С
R#2	1975	F	single	no	ugrad	no	Yes, 18 years	yes	n/a
R#3	1972	F	engaged	no	ugrad	no	Yes, 20 years	yes	A
R#4	1964	F	single	no	Fam MD	Not really	Yes, 3 years for work	yes	D
R#5	1964	F	married	2	Fam MD	по	Yes, 2 years for work	yes	С
R#6	1972	F	single	по	ugrad	no	Yes, 18 years	yes	A
R#7	1971	М	Married	no	resident	no	no	yes	В
R#8	1958	М	Married	3	Fam MD	yes	no	yes	D
R#9	1970	F	single	по	ugrad	no	no	no	A
R# 10	1973	F	married	no	resident	no	yes, for work	yes	В
R# 11	1977	М	single	no	ugrad	no	no	unsure	A

<sup>\*</sup> Income Categories (Gross Annual): A. \$0-19 999 B. \$20 000-49 999 C. \$50 000-74 999 D. \$75 000+
ugrad=undergraduate
Fam MD = family doctor

#### 3.4 Limitations of this study

I made every effort to design and implement as rigorous a research design as possible. However, a number of limitations to this research need to be addressed. They can be categorized in the following manner: limitations resulting from the use of RuralMed and email, limitations in sample base and size.

As mentioned in section 3.2, there are several implications of using the RuralMed listsery as the primary source for finding respondents. A number of the problems stem from my use of email as a primary source. First, I did not ask for proof that these people were who they said they were and indeed self-presentation on the internet is a problem. However, my feeling was that an individual would have to go to great trouble to participate in this interview if they were not involved in the delivery of health care as the questions were specific to that profession. Second, and more important, the sample from which I drew my respondents was not random and therefore not necessarily generalizable to a broader population. However, this is acceptable for an exploratory study as one of my goals is to highlight various forms of further research. The people who are subscribers to RuralMed are probably more likely than others to be interested in and proactive about rural health issues. As a result, they may not be representative of the larger population of rural physicians. Again, this affects the extent to which my research can be generalized to a larger population. Respondents were responsible for making initial contact if they were interested after reading the prospectus of my study. Accessing individual respondents would have been preferable since it may have increased my response rate. Most correspondence, including the initial call for participants, was made through email which potentially limits respondents to those with access to email. This is particularly problematic if snowballing doesn't work, and most of my respondents found me through this call. Email seems to be widely used among rural doctors who are isolated to different degrees so the effect of the problem may be somewhat neutralized.

Another limitation of my research is my small sample size. Several factors explain why I have such a small sample size. First, the pool of potential respondents is small. If it were not, there would be no cause for me to undertake this research in the first place. The size of my potential respondent pool reflects the shortage of rural physicians in Ontario and the rest of the country. Second, the pool of rural physicians is highly volatile. The high and rapid turnover rate of rural doctors complicates the process of finding people willing to participate in research. Those who are interested are busy, and it was difficult for them to find time to speak with me. Thus, the third factor influencing my sample size was the availability of people who were interested in participating. Finally, although I attempted to employ a snowball sampling technique to increase my sample size, it yielded only a few more respondents.

The implications of a small sample are numerous. As a result of the small general pool from which to select respondents, I was forced into a non-random sample. As well, I could not impose strict definitions of rural and remote, but had, rather, to rely on the

definition of the respondent. Both factors compromise the extent to which I am able to generalize findings to a broader population. However, generalizability is not as important in the context of an exploratory study as it would be in a study with different motives.

In addition to the size of the sample, the demographic characteristics of the respondents yielded some limitations. First, only one of my respondents was currently practicing in a rural location. While most others were planning to start practicing rurally, and some already had, it would have been advantageous to hear from more people who currently were working in a rural setting. Second, the majority of respondents were at the beginning of their medical careers which limited the amount of practical experience that they could have to share.

Defining rural was equally problematic. In the spirit of an exploratory study, I decided not to enforce a rigid definition for fear of limiting my potential pool of respondents too drastically. I was concerned that potential respondents might not be able to categorize their community according to a rigid set of standards. However, I have loosely followed the definition of 'rural' as suggested by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) who consider that a region is "rural" if more than half the people there live in communities with a population density of fewer than 150 persons per square kilometre (Health Canada).

Finally, as I have worked on this project, the struggles of rural Canadians vis a vis their health care has moved into focus and become a hot topic. It is difficult to stay abreast of all the changes in policy and the efforts being made to solve the problem while conducting this research. For this reason, by the time this work is finished it is possible that some claims or suggestions made in this thesis will have already been addressed in other work. Nonetheless, the problem at hand is a complex one that requires extensive contemplation and discussion if sustainable solutions are to be found.

## Section 4.1: Financial Sphere of Consideration

As discussed in Chapter Two, physician recruitment literature highlights four interrelated components within the financial sphere. According to that body of literature, the primary factors of concern to rural doctors in this sphere are: remuneration, financial incentives, debt, and tuition fees. Negotiations between physicians (as represented by the Ontario Medical Association) and the provincial government seem to be never-ending which indicates that remuneration is a topic that concerns many physicians. For that reason, I expect that my respondents will identify remuneration as being an important factor in their decision to choose rural practice. Although financial incentives are widely used to recruit and retain physicians, their use has not solved problems of rural recruitment and retention in rural Ontario. I do not expect my respondents to report that they find financial incentives an important factor in recruitment. While debt has only recently appeared as a recruitment factor in the literature, I expect that the high proportion of medical students and residents in my sample will mean that debt is something that concerns my respondents. For the same reason, I expect that tuition fees will be of concern to most respondents.

#### 4.1.1 Remuneration

I suspected that my respondents would cite remuneration as being a factor in their decision to choose rural practice. That hypothesis was not supported by the results of my research. None of my respondents said that remuneration was an important consideration in their decision to stay in or leave rural practice, although one respondent did feel strongly that rural physicians should be paid more than urban physicians. In total, only four respondents spoke about remuneration, although all respondents expressed opinions about financial incentive programs, which I discuss below.

Respondent Two, a 25 year old female medical student who grew up in a rural area, was the only person to express strong feelings about remuneration. She felt that "...physicians are highly educated and highly skilled people and ... their pay should reflect that". She also felt that rural physicians should receive additional income because they work with less professional support and are required to perform more medical tasks than urban physicians: "If I see a sore throat in the city it's not really much different from seeing a sore throat in the country but the practice profile [in the country] is very different [than in the city]". I discuss issues surrounding "practice profiles" later in this section.

Three other respondents expressed that medicine pays well no matter where you practice. Respondent One, a 31 year old male resident, said: "doctors make a lot of money in town or out of town". Respondent Six, a 28 year old female medical student, said: "Money

isn't a big motivation for me being in medicine in the first place" and that "...medicine anywhere is pretty well paid". Respondent Nine, a 30 year old female medical student agreed that remuneration was "...good pretty much anywhere you go".

There are two possible explanations why my hypothesis was not supported. First, perhaps the physicians and medical students with whom I spoke felt that they were (or would be, in the case of medical students) well paid and that remuneration was not a factor in their decision to choose rural practice. This could change as students actually start their practice. The second possible explanation is that I did not ask the right questions. I suspect that the first explanation is more accurate than the second. My respondents felt that physicians are paid well for what they do regardless of whether they work in a rural or urban setting and that others factors, both positive and negative, eventually outweigh any monetary considerations. Financial remuneration, at least for my respondents, is not of primary importance when making decisions about practice location.

#### 4.1.2 Financial Incentives and Student Debt

Financial incentives are often used to make rural practice seem more enticing to potential rural physicians. Three respondents (Respondents Two, Five, and Eight) felt that financial incentives were good things. Two of them (Respondents Two, and Eight) agreed that financial incentives were needed to attract and keep physicians in rural areas. Respondent Eight, a 42 year old male family physician, acknowledged that financial

between rural and urban medicine. Respondent Two, who felt strongly that physicians should be well paid due to their skill and training, felt that financial incentives were necessary. She added that "...in an ideal world there should be no difference between practicing medicine in the city and practicing medicine in the country but we don't live in an ideal world, and...the reality is that...you have to pay them more".

Respondent Five, a 36 year old female family physician, felt that financial incentives were "wonderful". When asked if they influenced her decision, she said: "I don't know if influenced is the right word, but if you're going to put pluses and minuses on things it would be a plus". Respondent Five also indicated that the financial incentive she was offered in exchange for spending some time in a rural setting sparked her interest in rural medicine. It is interesting to note that the respondents who felt that incentives were positive and helpful also indicated that the reason why is because rural medicine had characteristics that required compensation, such as lack of professional support and demanding workload. All other respondents felt differently about financial incentives.

Recall the words used by Respondent Eight when discussing financial incentives. He felt that financial incentives were important because they "level the playing field" between rural and urban practice. His use of the term "level the playing field" implies that there is an inherent difference between rural and urban medicine that must be acknowledged. The ideological premise behind financial incentives is that rural practice is a chore or bad

situation that physicians should be compensated for enduring. Using financial incentives in this way creates and propagates an image of rural medicine as being undesirable — money is the only thing that can convince physicians to be in rural practice. This is why financial incentives are not a sustainable solution for rural medicine. Furthermore, I suspect that financial incentives negatively influence people's perceptions of rural medicine's value. Although she admitted that the financial incentives were nice, they did not motivate her decision making in terms of practice location.

The remaining respondents did not feel, as did Respondents Two and Eight, that financial incentives need to compensate rural physicians. Six people felt that financial incentives were only short term solutions to the problem of rural recruitment. Both Respondent Nine and Respondent Ten, a 27 year old female resident, identified financial incentives as being a short-term advantage to rural practice because the additional income would help newly graduated students deal with the massive debt that they had accumulated throughout their studies. Respondent One, who had spent time during his medical training in a rural setting and planned to move to a rural practice, said:

...when you see the *student loan burden* that people are graduating with right now, any type of financial incentive at the beginning of a person's practice makes a huge difference. I don't know about the long term....I think people might go initially for the money, and if they stay, they stay for other reasons, such as continuity of care, or because they can practice a wider ranger of medicine, or [because]

they like living in a rural area as opposed to a large city. Once people have paid off their loans and are looking at their lives in the long-term, the extra 20% [offered by a financial incentive package] isn't that big a factor [in their decision to stay in or leave rural practice]...financial incentives are a huge factor at the beginning of a person's career to offset student loan debt but [they are] not important beyond that (emphasis added).

Respondent Six, who stated that money did not motivate her to choose medicine as a career, said "[a financial incentive] doesn't impress me a whole lot, it's reassuring that there will be reasonable programs in place so I will be able to pay my loans back, that is an issue for students" (emphasis added). Financial incentives might not convince people to choose rural medicine if they were not interested in it for another reason, but financial incentives can make rural practice a more viable option for students carrying a large debt. Respondent Three felt that financial incentives are a bonus but would not influence her decision. She conceded that they might make a difference for someone with a debt to repay. Respondent Nine summarized the situation by saying: "Student debt loads are getting so unbearable that people are looking for a quicker means to get out of a bad situation".

This discussion about financial incentives highlights another important aspect of the financial sphere which is the impact that debt has on practice location. Respondent Four, a 36 year old female family physician recalled that "[When I was a medical student] it was an enormous amount of debt to go into and...it just puts your focus all on money, and everything

becomes about money, and I'm not sure that's really healthy." Respondent Two said: "The truth of the matter is that large debt loads force or redirect the stream of students away from family practice into higher paying specialties and family practitioners are more likely to practice in a rural setting in the first place". Respondent Three believed that debt increases the likelihood that a student will choose to move to the United States in order to make money faster to pay off loans.

Debt can represent a coercive way to get students into rural areas. Respondent Six also expressed concern about forcing or coercing people into rural areas:

The bottom line is that the only good rural health care that you're going to get is from people who want to be there, and if people are there because they were forced to be there or ... they were so financially strapped that they felt their only option was to do this program then I don't think they're gonna provide great health care.

Respondent Four was glad that she did not receive any financial compensation for the time she spent in a rural community. She was "...happy to have the freedom to go there by choice rather than 'owing time' [because of having signed a contract]. She also says that "The money is a nice benefit, but I am not convinced that you're going to get the people you want if you're just giving money, and I think people who are interested and see the draw of this kind of practice will go so long as the compensation is fair...I think protecting time and

lifestyle stuff is more important." Respondent Nine also agreed that physicians need to be going to rural areas by their own choice.

The responses from my respondents suggest that there are many factors in the financial sphere that influence practice location. However, it is interesting to note that my respondents did not place importance on financial compensation. The primary concern, financially, was to be debt-free. Four of the seven respondents who said that incentive packages were important only to pay off loans were students and another two were residents, thereby supporting my hypothesis that the students in my sample would be particularly concerned with issues of debt. Financial considerations play a part in the decision making of physicians, but the respondents in my study were not *motivated* by money.

There seems to be, based on the literature, a perception that rural physicians place a lot of weight on financial considerations when decision-making about practice location. Mostly, that consideration is perceived to be about being compensated for the hardships of rural practice. However, my respondents were not solely concerned with being compensated financially for their work in rural areas. While money was important, particularly to those respondents concerned with paying back loans, it alone was a key variable in their decision about practice location. The reason for the discrepancy between what I expected to find and what I did find is this: Rural physicians are concerned about money, but without understanding the context for that concern, we assume that they just want more of it and that if they don't get enough, they won't go to rural areas. Once placed within a context, we see

that the reason people are concerned about money is because tuition fees are rising resulting in increased debt for medical students. These physicians are essentially forced to focus on money due to the debts that they must repay upon graduation. That is not to say that the physicians and students with whom I spoke do not feel compensated for their work. Indeed, they expect to feel compensated by the quality of interaction that they have with their patients and that outweighs questions of remuneration. Traditional literature in this field gives us a false understanding of the financial sphere. This is of grave consequence considering that the financial sphere is the one most focused on by government policies.

Understanding the social context of the financial sphere sheds light on the reasons why decisions are made in the financial sphere. As we have examined this sphere in the literature and through practical research, we see the interrelationship of financial incentives, debt and tuition fees and how they combine to influence decision making. We also, in understanding this relationship, are in a better position to suggest changes that might improve recruitment rates of physicians in rural Ontario.

## Section 4.2: Personal and Social Sphere of Consideration

Recruitment literature, as discussed in Chapter Two, identifies several factors that belong to the personal and social sphere of consideration. Personal considerations include: a preference for living in a rural area, and rural origin. Not all of my respondents are of rural origin, although all are interested in rural medicine. I expect that they will have an interest

in a rural lifestyle. Social considerations include: social isolation and lack of anonymity due to the social role that a physician occupies in a rural community. I expect that my findings will mirror the literature with respect to anonymity and social isolation

#### Section 4.2.1 Personal Considerations

Five respondents reported that they were initially interested in rural practice because they sought a rural lifestyle. Rural lifestyle was defined by: outdoor activities and recreation (n=5), safety (n=2), no commuting (n=2). These five respondents were interested in practicing rurally before it was presented as an option in medical school. Respondent Two said:

Living in a rural area is probably one of the most important things, it's one of my main goals, I want my kids to grow up without having to worry about cars and bad people and I want them to be able to swim in the lake when they feel like it and skate on the ice in the winter and that kind of thing

Respondents whose social context included the experience of living in a rural area, perceived the characteristics of rural living as positive. Other characteristics that have been identified as negative in the literature were either not mentioned or were outweighed by the advantages. For example, Respondent Three, a medical student, acknowledged that people are concerned about the opportunities available for children in rural areas. Having grown up

in a rural area, she suggested that people supplement their children's education with specialty camps, like one for music if the music program at the child's school is not adequate. I suspect that people who grew up in rural areas are more likely to problem-solve and find solutions rather than people from urban areas who would see that as an obstacle.

Another factor mentioned in the literature is rural origin. Recall that in Chapter Two
I indicated that recent studies suggest that physicians who are from rural areas tend to stay
longer in rural practice. I found support for this claim in my study. For example, Respondent
One suggested that:

"[the solution to rural physician shortages] starts with recruiting into medical school. The more we try to get people into medical school who are born and raised in rural areas, the more we'll keep people out there in the long term, I've met very few people from Toronto who will stay long term in rural because it's just too different, the lifestyle becomes dependent on city amenities, pretty huge change to rural area"

Respondent Four also said that people from rural areas are the best candidates for rural practice. Neither were from a rural area, but both intended to pursue rural practice. Respondent Nine, who had intended to pursue a rural practice but changed her mind because of her partner's employment restrictions, was not from a rural area either. She started medical school with an interest in underserviced populations and had good experiences

working in rural areas. Respondent Ten, who also grew up in an urban area, did not start medical school with an interest in rural medicine. Her interest was sparked by a six-month rural internship in family medicine: "I was surprised that I enjoyed it because I had done a family [medicine] rotation in an urban area and hadn't enjoyed it as much. It was both a job and a setting that suited my personality". Clearly these respondents' urban backgrounds has not prevented their interest in rural practice.

If rural origin is so important, how is it that my respondents from urban areas express the same interest in rural medicine as do my rural origin respondents? Once again, the answer lies in the social context. I propose that rural origin is a factor in retention because it prepares physicians for living in the social world of a rural community. Many people, rural and urban, enjoy outdoor activities, but the intimacy of social interaction in smaller towns can be daunting for an unprepared physician. Further research is needed to determine why rural origin is so important. If I am correct in my proposition, the solution lies in exposing and preparing medical school for the social and personal realities of living in rural areas. A physician's personality (as well as his or her family) must be predisposed to living in a rural area, but personalities are flexible when given a chance.

As is expressed in the literature, respondents reported that among the most disadvantageous aspects of rural medicine were challenges relating to family. The primary concern among this grouping was finding employment opportunities for the physician's spouse or significant other. Respondent Nine, a student had intended to pursue a career in

rural medicine, but decided against it because her fiancé's work necessitates that he live in an urban setting.

Other family-related concerns revolved around educational and recreational activities for children. Respondent Five, a family physician who is preparing to return to rural practice, noted that she and her family will not stay in a community if it does not meet her children's educational needs. Concern for a spouse or partner's happiness also influences physician practice location. Respondent Six observed that it can be hard to negotiate between one partner who wants to live in a rural area and another who does not. In her experience, the partner with rural interests is usually the one to compromise: "...it just seems too cruel to drag your urban based partner out into the country where they can't do anything". From an historical perspective, the consideration of spousal happiness is a fairly new one. Today, increasing numbers of couples live in two-income households and both partners must be able to work. As Respondent One noted, "In 1965 rural doctors were unmarried... males who could go anywhere and if they did have a wife, she didn't work."

#### Section 4.2.2 Social Considerations

Another problem that physicians cite as being a deterrent from rural practice is the lack of anonymity that physicians face. Respondent Ten said: "You almost become like a celebrity in a small town". To illustrate her point, she tells a story about meeting with an unmarried, male physician with whom she hoped to work. They met for lunch in the small

town in which he lived and worked. She was aware throughout their meal that people were watching and talking about them. Before long, she explained, rumour had spread that the unmarried town doctor had a girlfriend. It is a common stereotype that people living in rural towns know everything about all the other people living in the town. This stereotype seems to take on another dimension when the person being talked about occupies a highly visible social role such as town doctor.

Respondent Seven explained the difficulty associated with the role of rural doctor: "if you're the only physician in town you're singled out in a way and it's often difficult to get away from your work environment - everybody in the community sees you as a physician. People expect you to be a physician whenever they see you". In other words, there is no chance to take on the role of neighbour or fellow citizen because the physician role is so pervasive. Respondent Seven explained that it is "...challenging to never be able to leave that role [of physician]. You are always the doctor and never the guy next door". Respondent One had similar experiences to share: "...when you're the doctor and you're out at the grocery store you can get cornered and asked questions about lab tests or what not."

Recall the discussion in Chapter Two about the doctor-patient relationship and how it is different in a rural setting. In an urban setting, physicians and their patients rarely see one another outside of the doctor's office. In rural areas, physician's patients are also their friends and neighbours.

All of my respondents commented during the interview that the doctor-patient relationship is different in rural settings than it is in urban settings. Feelings were mixed about the potential advantage or disadvantage of the difference. Respondent Four commented that "[o]ne of the things that happens in a small place is that you...see people at work, you bump into them at the grocery store...".

While the majority of respondents spoke favourably of the more involved relationship that rural physicians have with their patients, Respondents Two and Six expressed ambiguity about the relationships. Respondent Two said "...you might be treating people who are your friends and neighbours and that can be tricky". Yet another Respondent, number Four, accepted that fact as an integral component of rural practice: "Treating people you know is just part of the package, and that if you are not comfortable with that, then rural practice may not be for you".

A more involved relationship between doctors and their patients is accentuated by the very visible role that the rural physician occupies within a community. The high status of the physician role can be isolating. The professional isolation that was identified as being among the most challenging aspects of rural practice, is mirrored by the sense of personal isolation that some rural physicians experience. Respondent Six shared this:

[It is] not just the professional isolation [that can be scary] but the personal isolation is really frightening especially for people who have

never lived in a small town, and even for those who have, to go back as the doctor, one of the higher statuses in town, it's a different life you're living than when you're just in high school. It's a whole, sort of, social change that I think can be really isolating.

In addition to being a "higher status" role, the local physician can also suffer from lack of anonymity which can be hard. Respondent Five reported that a rural physician can end up feeling that "...you're in a fishbowl because you work and socialize with the same people". They noted that physicians are watched in a way that other residents are not.

It is interesting to note that there seems to be some contradiction in terms of isolation and lack of anonymity. On the one hand, physicians report that they feel isolated from the community in which they practice. They feel, as Respondent Six expressed, that they are in (or are perceived to be in) a higher social class than other residents. As a result, they feel isolated. At the same time, however, physicians report that they suffer from a lack of anonymity in rural areas. In other words, they are not isolated enough. While this may appear to be a contradiction, in fact it is not. It is, however, an interesting commentary on the personal and social sphere that rural physicians may experience. Perhaps the very reason that they feel isolated is because they are such public figures occupying prestigious social roles. My respondents reports echo the literature as discussed in Chapter Two.

Similarly, physicians must be prepared to deal with a more familiar relationship with patients than they are used to in urban areas. Medical schools train physicians to work in

urban areas and within a compatible doctor-patient relationship. The distance placed between doctors and patients rarely exists in rural areas and physicians must therefore be trained accordingly.

# Section 4.3: Professional Sphere of Consideration

Characteristics of the rural doctor-patient relationship as discussed in Section 4.2.2 are also relevant to the professional sphere of consideration. In the social/personal sphere, the impact of the doctor-patient relationship is seen in the social isolation and lack of anonymity that the physician may feel. The social role of 'rural physician' is a difficult one to leave at the office -- it seems to follow rural physicians through all of their social interactions. Likewise, the breadth and scope of rural practice is larger than urban practice. I expect my respondents to indicate that rural medicine is distinct from urban practice. As they are all interested in rural medicine, I expect that they will perceive those distinctions to be positive characteristics.

## 4.3.1 The Doctor-Patient Relationship in a Rural Setting

Within the professional sphere, the impact of the doctor-patient relationship is slightly different. In this sphere, we are more concerned with the power dynamic involved in this relationship as well as the impact that this power dynamic has on both the quality of patient care and the satisfaction and fulfillment that rural physicians get from their practice.

I propose that the power dynamic is different in rural medicine than it is in urban medicine because of the more familiar nature of the relationship between doctor and patient. Does this imply that the doctor-patient relationship in a rural setting is more egalitarian? I suggest that it does. Furthermore, I suggest that the quality of care that patients receive is better when the doctor-patient relationship is less power driven.

Respondent One agrees that patients in rural areas benefit from a familiar relationship with their doctor:

I think people, whether they realize it or not...get better care in smaller centres, because the big difference [in a rural area as opposed to an urban area] is that you tend to see the same doctor each time [that] you're cared for....In a larger centre care tends to be more fragmented because it's easier to go out and pass the problem on to a specialist or [to another] health care worker.

He elaborated by telling a story about a patient who went to see his family doctor for a minor surgical treatment. In an urban centre, Respondent One explained, the family doctor would have referred the patient to a specialist - in this case a surgeon - but there was no one nearby to whom he could refer the patient. Instead, he agreed to perform the procedure but spent the evening before learning how to do it.

While Respondent Two acknowledged that knowing your patients as friends and neighbours can be "tricky" she also indicated that it can improve the quality of care that they receive: "...a person's social, psychological and emotional background contributes to their health, if you know [what that background is then] you're in a better situation to help them decide how to manage their health properly".

Respondents reported that rural practice would be more satisfying than urban practice because of the more familiar relationship that they would have with their patients. This claim was based on their rotations and electives in rural settings. Respondent Nine identified that difference as an advantage to rural practice:

[the rural physician is ] more likely to know patients on a personal level and not just professional.... the relationship seems to extend outside...the clinic, so it seems a lot richer...[As a result of this relationship,] people really know their doctors as people in a comprehensive sense, they feel that this person knows them well [and] seem more content with the quality of care they get.

I was unable to ascertain why some physicians felt that a more familiar relationship was positive and why some felt it was negative. If I had to hazard a guess, I would say that those physicians who see that as a positive thing are less concerned with maintaining the traditional medical power structure (which places doctors at the top and patients at the bottom) than those who express discomfort with having a more familiar relationship with

their patients. The distinction also seems to lie in whether or not a physician feels that he is part of the community (as does Respondent Eight, who has been working and living in the same community for sixteen years) or feels like an outsider — someone who is "living in a fishbowl" to use the words of Respondent Five.

Although I did not see this in the literature, through my respondents I have developed an understanding that the hierarchy of rural medicine is very different from urban medicine, and that rural doctors see that as a good thing. Respondent Four commented that "[o]ne of the things that happens in a small place is that you...see people at work, you bump into them at the grocery store...". The relationship between a rural physician and his or her patient is less likely to be limited to solely a professional one, as is the norm in urban centres, because both parties are likely to have occasion to interact socially in addition to their professional interaction. The social distance between physicians and patients in rural areas is therefore smaller than in urban areas. In Section 4.2, I discussed the implications of this relationship on the personal and social sphere. There are also implications of this different relationship in the professional sphere as it influences physician satisfaction and feelings of fulfillment provided by that relationship.

### 4.3.2 The Broad Scope of Rural Practice

My respondents reported that one of the most important factors explaining their interest in rural medicine that was that rural medicine offered practice characteristics that

urban medicine did not. All of my respondents expressed a belief that family medicine has an expanded role in a rural setting because rural physicians are involved in a greater capacity in their patient's medical care and overall well-being. Rural practice, they said, is broader than urban practice because the rural physician works without specialist back-up. As a result, rural physicians are involved in more stages of their patients health care than urban physicians. Rural physicians, for example, are more likely than urban physicians to have hospital admitting privileges. Respondent Eight (a male) said that this allowed him to follow his patients from the office into the hospital and back into the office again. The scope of rural practice is broader than urban practice and therefore rural physicians are able to be more involved in their patient's care. Respondents used the words rewarding, challenging, interesting, comprehensive, and varied to describe rural practice. Respondent Six said:

"[A rural community is] a place where you can sort of be the true well-rounded physician...the old-fashioned doctor where you really get to deal with a whole variety of things, see a variety of things, and I think it's one of the best situations in which to get to know your patients as a whole and not just see a small part of them. I think that there's a lot of opportunity for variety throughout your career, more than there could be in a city."

Respondent Four expressed a similar sentiment when she noted that rural practice enabled her to "...become the doctor that I went to medical school to be".

Clearly, my respondents feel that they benefit from the expanded role that they play in their patient's medical experiences. This is also identified in the literature as being an advantage of rural practice. Is it also an advantage of being a rural patient? Do rural patients receive a higher quality of care than urban patients because their family physician knows them better and accompanies them further in their medical encounters? Doctor-patient relationships have been the subject of study and analysis for a long time, however this aspect of rural health care requires further investigation<sup>12</sup>. Two of my respondents felt that rural patients often did receive better care. Care is less fragmented when a smaller number of physicians are overseeing a patient's treatment. Respondent Eight used the term "cradle to grave" to refer to the longitudinal aspect of rural medicine.

Interestingly, while all respondents said that the broad scope of rural practice was a positive thing, three also indicated that it was intimidating. The respondents who expressed intimidation were all medical students which suggests that there may be a relationship between experience and confidence, which would be reasonable. While some respondents indicated that the professional independence or isolation can be a good thing, others notes that it can be a scary thing. Respondent Six said: "Medicine is an apprenticeship, you are constantly learning from people who are above you and around you. The thought of sort of trucking out to this two-doctor town is terrifying because we're always in training

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The impact of the doctor-patient relationship on the quality of rural health care is a subject worthy of investigation. Due to the limited scope of this work I am unfortunately unable to address the topic further at this time.

surrounded by other people....It's really scary to think of going off and doing everything on your own". Respondent Nine added: "It's very anxiety provoking to be out there treating patients on your own. I think a lot of us have been brought up more on the system of collaboration rather than individuality".

Respondent Nine clearly summarized yet another distinction between rural and urban medicine. Structurally, Western medicine is based on a "system of collaboration" in which doctors are trained in specific areas of expertise. Family doctors, trained as generalists, act as front-line personnel in the medical system. Due to a lack of specialized knowledge, one of their jobs (in an urban centre) is to refer patients to specialists. Rural family physicians often work in an independent system because there are few other health care specialists with whom they can collaborate. Therefore, they require a more extensive body of knowledge than urban family practitioners. Rural family physicians need to be trained as generalists, and they also need training in some key specialties. Clearly, if we continue to train physicians who are able to only work within a collaborative model, we will never have enough doctors to work competently in rural areas. Physician training for rural doctors must reflect these differences in rural practice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Determining which specialties should be included is a task better left to rural physicians, who know their own training needs.

## 4.3.3 Less Support and More Responsibility

In Chapter Two, the broad scope and independent nature of rural practice, described earlier as an advantage by all of my respondents, is also described as a disadvantage of rural practice because it results in greater responsibility being placed on the shoulders of rural physicians. The tendency for rural physicians to have more responsibility with less support than urban physicians was the main disadvantage reported by all of my respondents. For example, they cited that the number of hours worked per week tends to be high, and getting time off for vacations or Continuing Medical Education (CME) is difficult. Respondent One noted: "...you are busier than you want to be and it is really hard not to be". On-call frequency can be high, and Respondent Two claimed that it is often untenable. Another respondent noted that it is "harder to set limits" in a rural area because there is no one else to take your place. Respondents also indicated that there can be a lack of professional support in rural areas. Lack of specialty back-up, limited access to lab tests and diagnostic tools make rural practice more challenging than urban where all of those facilities are readily available. These challenges can be severe, particularly if, as Respondent Nine stated, "you [the rural physician] are unsure of your skills". How can physicians become more sure of their skills? Part of the answer to that question emerges in the Educational Sphere of Consideration when it comes to exposure and training.

Being isolated and without back-up has also meant to some respondents that engaging in CME has been difficult. However, Respondent Eight has found that improved

communications technology, such as the Internet, have made accessing CME programs easier. Any training that requires travelling, however, remains difficult to manage. Because most teaching centres are affiliated with urban hospitals, incorporating an academic component into a rural practice is another challenge. Respondent Five, who is planning on returning to a rural practice from her current position in an urban setting explained: "[what] I will miss more than anything is the residents, the teaching, the academic part. There is very little opportunity [for] teaching and positions in rural settings. That's the hardest thing to leave".

As I suspected, my respondents mirrored the literature in their thoughts and concerns within this sphere. Rural medicine, they felt, is distinct from urban because the doctor-patient relationship is more familiar; the breadth and scope of rural practice is greater in rural practice; rural physicians operate with more responsibility and less support than urban physicians. I was also correct in expecting that those differences would be perceived as positive attributes to my respondents. Not surprisingly, nobody mentioned incorporating other ideas like training other people to provide basic medical services. Social control is an important part of the profession of medicine and I anticipated that few people, if any, would volunteer to open the doors to outsiders.

# Section 4.4: Educational Sphere of Consideration

Within the Educational Sphere of Consideration, six questions emerge as influential on rural recruitment. First, how is exposure important for people who end up practicing in rural areas as well as for those who never do? Second, what profile does rural medicine have in medical schools? Third, does medical school train students adequately for rural practice? Fourth, who are the students in medical schools? Fifth, what is the impact of early career decision making on rural retention? Finally, examining CME: what opportunities exist for education after medical school?

## 4.4.1 Exposure

In the literature, exposure to rural medicine during undergraduate medical training is emphasized as an important factor in rural recruitment. The types of exposure most commonly referred to are rural electives and rotations. Both involve the medical student or resident spending time (a few weeks to a few months) working with or shadowing a rural physician in his or her practice. Electives and rotations give the student a chance to see what rural practice is really like and allows them to experience working and living in different communities. I suspect that my respondents will report that being exposed to rural medicine early in medical training influences practice location. All of my respondents have an interest in rural medicine and I suspect that they all had early exposure to rural in medical school.

Seven respondents (Two, Three, Four, Five, Six, Seven, and Nine) reported that exposure to a rural medical setting during their medical training had launched their interest in rural practice. Of those seven people, three were from rural areas and four were from urban areas. The most common exposure occurred during undergraduate medical training and consisted of rural electives or rotations. As undergraduate students, they went to rural communities to work alongside the communities' practicing physicians. The time period lasted anywhere from several weeks to six months. Other respondents reported that they had spent time in a rural community during their residency training.

Respondent Seven was one person whose interest in rural medicine was developed due to his experience in an elective. Respondent Three noted that:

...it was really interesting to watch that first group of students go out into rural areas because a lot of them really weren't looking forward to it, [they were] wondering 'What am I going to do there for 2 weeks?', "Is this going to be a drag?', 'Oh my gosh look at where they sent me' sort of thing. The fact that it was mandatory, I think, really annoyed quite a lot of them. But when they came back from their two weeks it seemed to me, I didn't hear any negative comments. It seemed to me that everyone enjoyed themselves immensely.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>This quotation from Respondent Seven leads us to wonder why levels of recruitment are still low if students are enjoying their experiences in rural areas. Further research is required in order to adequately answer that question.

Respondent Four, who grew up in a suburban neighborhood, also found that working in a rural area after her first year of medical school was very important. She was informally exposed to rural medicine in medical school through classmates who were from rural areas. Rural medicine had no formal presence in her medical school at the time that she was a student there, in the early 1990's. She summarized the importance of early exposure by saying: "If nobody ever tells you that [rural medicine] is something you can do, then you're never going to consider, so there are some people who are lost before the game even starts".

Four of my respondents felt that exposure to rural medicine is advantageous to those people who will never practice in a rural area for two reasons. First, students who go to rural areas seem to have a more hands-on experience than they do in urban areas. in other words, the student learns more and is an active participant rather than a passive spectator. Recall what Respondent Two said: "...medical students who go into rural areas have very good experiences, they do more, see more, participate more, and generally learn a lot more than [they do] in [urban] centres where they're at the bottom of the totem pole". Respondent Three had positive experiences in rural areas: "...it was excellent, the teaching and hands-on experience were always excellent".

Earlier in this chapter, I discussed that the doctor-patient dynamic in rural areas represents a different hierarchy of power than is usually seen in urban areas. This hierarchical difference emerged from comments from some of the medical students with whom I spoke

about the advantages of being a medical student in rural areas. Two respondents, both medical students, noted that doing a rotation or elective in a rural area as a medical student presented advantages over urban-based locations because students are more likely to have more hands-on experience in a rural setting than they are in an urban setting. Respondent Two commented that "...medical students who go into rural areas have very good experiences, they do more, see more, participate more, and generally learn a lot more than [they do] in [urban] centres where they're at the bottom of the totem pole. You're right there in a rural setting" [emphasis added]. Respondent Three said that rural practice is "an excellent venue learning as you get to do a lot of hands-on work" as opposed to urban settings where the amount of hands-on work is limited.

Second, exposure leads to a greater understanding and respect of rural medicine and works towards changing the negative perception of it that some people have. Respondent Five explained: "once people are exposed they develop more respect for the system [of rural medicine] as a whole". Respondent Four feels that it may be even more important for people who will never practice in rural areas to be exposed to rural practice:

I've had people say [to me], 'Oh, I went somewhere like that [a rural area] when I was in training, oh my god... 'I'm so glad I'm not there...I'm just so pleased it's not me out there' and that's fine, that persons never going to work in a rural area. But if they can be nice to somebody who's working in a rural area, that counts just as much.

## 4.4.2 The Profile of Rural Medicine in Medical School

The respondents quoted above believe that there is a misrepresentation of rural medicine among many people in the medical world. It is for this reason that they feel exposing all medical students to rural medicine is so important. How is rural medicine represented in medical school? What kind of profile does it have? Is there a bias against rural medicine? What we are talking about here is the distinction between formal exposure and informal exposure. Formal exposure may take shape as rural elective programs or lectures. Formal exposure is what is most often talked about in the literature. It influences the context in which medical students make decisions about their practice because it presents rural medicine as an option that some people might not have thought of on their own. In this way, most of the formal exposure that medical students receive is positive. Informal exposure is not quite as clear cut. It may be, as was the case for Respondent Four, other students in the class. Or, it may be the attitude that faculty members express when Respondents indicated an interest in rural medicine. It may also be seen in the degree of difficulty or ease with which information about rural medicine can obtained by student.

Respondent Five felt that there was an urban bias at her Ontario medical school and that it was evident in the narrow definition of family medicine that they employ: "The family doctors that we see are urban family doctors and that is very different from [rural family medicine]. We do get some perspective of patients in those areas but you never have a chance to see what it's like as a physician in those areas" (she works with the Queen's rural

outreach program to change that). Respondent Nine was in the first class of her medical school to be exposed to rural medicine. She noted that the way rural is sometimes portrayed gives it a negative image. Respondent Ten feels strongly that the training that medical students receive does not support rural medicine: "Part of the reason you don't have physicians jumping to go out into rural settings is because they're not being trained to do that". People who pursue an education in rural medicine (through electives for example) do so "...despite the training [in medical school], not because of the training". She felt that her medical school did a poor job of providing her with mentors. She described a lecture that she attended early (1st year) in her education where the key speaker denounced rural medicine. She finished by saying that

...there are eager people [in medical schools] who want to be the kind of doctor that this province needs, and a lot of us are turned off by what happens in the universities and in the training. I guess it's just assumed that we [doctors] all have the training and that we just walk out [of rural practice]...I almost feel like there's this portrayal of us as these selfish people that all just want to stay in the city and work five hours a day.

### 4.4.3 Training

Part of the reason why exposing students to the possibility of rural practice is important is because it helps to prepare them for the particular demands that a rural physician

faces. I suspect that the perception of preparation is positively associated with confidence levels. Some respondents said that they felt prepared by their medical training and others did not. Respondent Eight, for example, reported that he had done an additional year of training in a rural area and as a result did feel prepared for rural practice. He has noticed, however, that medical schools do not seem to be training people for what the will have to be doing as rural physicians:

Family Medicine programs are doing a poor job of preparing [students for rural practice]. They finish residency and think that they can practice in a rural setting until they come out here and find out what we do, and then they can't do it because they don't have the skills. They've been trained to practice in an urban setting.

Among those who did feel prepared, Respondent One admitted that he felt "reasonably prepared" by his undergraduate and residency training. However, he added that "I've come out [of medical school] feeling there are a few skills that I just haven't developed". He added that he hoped to develop those skills on the job. Respondent Three did not feel prepared, although she noted that she was in the last year before a curriculum change that incorporated more rural exposure. She noticed that the group following hers (who had benefitted from the curriculum change) tended to have a more positive outlook on rural practice than did her immediate cohorts. Respondent Ten does not feel that current training programs prepare aspiring physicians for acute care or, subsequently, for rural practice. She noted that her school did a poor job of providing mentors for students who were interested

in rural medicine. Respondent Four reported that the medical school that she attended did not provide direct exposure to rural medicine, however she did get some exposure from some of the other students in her class who were from rural areas. Respondent Six expressed that the reputation that the medical school that she is currently attending has for being rurally oriented is not entirely deserved. Respondent Seven reported having more trouble than he had anticipated trying to get some skills for rural medicine in an urban residency program. Respondent Two summarized what she felt medical schools should be doing to prepare aspiring rural physicians: "...training for rural medicine has to entail being trained for what you will be doing...[medical schools] need to get people prepared for an environment that is maybe more hostile and less supportive".

Not all respondents agreed that it was even the role of medical schools to provide training specific to rural or urban settings. Respondent Five stated that exposure to rural medicine, as opposed to training, is what a medical school can do. She was exposed to rural medicine in her undergraduate studies, but did not feel that she had the same exposure during her residency training: "I don't think that it necessarily did [provide rural exposure], but I think you can do a lot with a residency program if you have the foresight to know that that's what you want and you create it within in". Respondent Seven shared her belief that undergraduate medical training is too general to be considered preparation for rural or urban-based practice.

## 4.4.4 Accessibility of Medical School to Rural Students

Recall the importance of rural origin on physician retention. Rural origin is an important consideration in this sphere as well because we need to examine not only what is happening in medical schools, but who the medical students are who are being influenced.

Respondent One feels that the way to improve rural retention is to get rurally-raised people into medical schools. Urbanites are unlikely to stay, he says, because the difference between rural and urban is too great and the change is too much to bear. Respondent Two also feels that rural origin is important: "My experience and the experience of other rural students is that [medicine] is not an option, it's just not something really thought about by rural students...if you're a smart kid from a rural area you go into Education". Why would rural students feel less inclined to pursue a career in medicine than urban students? Because medicine is so urbanly biased?

Respondent Three expressed concern about tuition deregulation and the impact that it would have on admissions:

...one of the things that it's going to do, in my opinion, it's going to bias admissions towards students from urban areas to begin with. If you are starting to bias your pool of applicants...towards people from wealthy families and from urban areas, I think you're gonna have less

success in getting those urban raised people to consider rural practice and to stay in rural practice.

Are high school students in rural areas at a disadvantage compared to urban high school students? Do rural high school students receive a poorer quality of education than urban students? Respondent Three, a medical student who went through the rural high school system believes that "education is what you make of it". She adds, however, that "...most of the physicians I've met, and a lot of my classmates, doubt that the rural education system is very good". She was not sure what caused the bias. As I reported in Section 4.2.1, she suggested that education can easily be supplemented by summer programs, like specialty music camps.

Respondent Six thinks that "...rural kids in high school need to know that medicine is a great career and that it is totally attainable, the support systems need to be in place to make that true, they shouldn't...have to be rich, they should be well supported by their communities and by the greater community of Canada"

## 4.4.5 Early Career Decision Making

Two respondents stated that the pressure on medical students to make decisions about their careers early in their training is disadvantageous to rural medicine. Respondent Four

said "[m]ore and more people are being forced to make decisions early on in their medical school training - it's crazy, medical students are having to get research papers published in order to get into the residency [program] that they want and I think that is really going to have a negative impact on people's abilities to do electives in rural places." Respondent Six expressed concern about the implication of early career decision making on rural recruitment:

...even by second year [of medical school] we feel the pressure [to decide on a career path]. To pick rural medicine at that point [in first year] is a pretty big thing to ask someone to do. People are having to make decisions too early, and it's really hurting rural Canada.

## Chapter Five: Conclusions and Recommendations

Health care in rural Canada is in crisis. Rural communities struggle to recruit and to retain physicians. While the recruitment and retention of rural physicians are problems facing the entire country, this thesis has focused on the province of Ontario. In Chapter Two, I identified the factors commonly reported as being important to physician recruitment. I introduced a theoretical framework called Spheres of Consideration that clarifies the social context in which those factors exist. In Chapter Three, I discussed the methodology employed in obtaining my data. Telephone interviews with five undergraduate medical students, three residents, and three doctors further informed the discussion in Chapter Four. In this chapter I offer my conclusions and recommendations for rural communities, governments, the medical community, and for further research.

### 5.1 Financial Sphere of Consideration

### 5.1.1 Conclusions

In Chapter Two I introduced literature on remuneration, financial incentives, debt, and tuition and discussed how they influence rural physician recruitment. In Chapter Four I compared my findings from Chapter Two with the findings from my interviews. The results of my study indicate that physicians who choose rural practice do so because they are drawn to its practice characteristics, not because of the remuneration or financial incentives that

they receive<sup>15</sup>. Many current efforts employed to remedy the crisis in rural health care overemphasize the importance of this sphere which is why the proposed solutions do not work. Physicians are mostly concerned with the financial sphere if they are students and carrying a debt and are concerned with paying it off as soon as possible. Furthermore, I suggest that financial incentives portray rural medicine as an undesirable form of medical practice and that this portrayal is detrimental to recruitment as well as the general practice of rural medicine.

Based on news reports, it seems as though physicians generally express a feeling that their pay should reflect the years of formal training they receive before being licensed to practice medicine. Only one of the respondents in this study expressed a similar sentiment. Others felt that medical practices pay well regardless of whether you are in a rural or urban location. Financial considerations were not high on their list of reasons why they would or would not stay in a rural community. Two questions emerge about the role that money plays in recruiting physicians to work in rural communities. News reports often refer to salary negotiations between doctors and government. It seems that the respondents in this study do not share the concerns of their colleagues. Could that be merely due to the small sample size? In part, it is. My sample, as I discuss in Chapter Three, consists mostly of medical students and residents. Perhaps salary concerns emerge later in a physician's career as being

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Recall that, due to my small sample, I cannot generalize my findings to the broader rural medical community.

important. However, it was a medical student who was the only respondent to mention the importance of paying doctors well.

Financial incentive packages have not solved the shortage of physicians in rural areas. According to the respondents of this study, they do not attract the right kind of physician to rural practice. While there is nothing wrong with compensating physicians who work in rural parts of Canada, current efforts and policies direct the wrong message at the wrong people. The people towards whom the message is directed are those physicians who are interested only in the financial benefits of the practice of medicine. Rural practice requires a high level of commitment from its practitioner. Rural medicine in Canada is portrayed as a convenient stopping point for physicians wanting to pay off their debts and get on with their lives. Not all physicians who are attracted by incentive packages are interested solely in the money. Respondent Five's interest in rural medicine was sparked in part by the financial compensation that she received. However, by not acknowledging and providing for the more serious considerations of rural practice, even those physicians whose interest is sparked will lose their motivation. Incentive packages are a place to start. The danger is that they have been used in isolation from any other effort.

Resources, in this case financial, are funnelled into people who are not going to stay in rural areas. I propose that those resources be redirected towards creating sustainable working conditions for physicians who are genuinely committed to rural practice. Incentive packages can be used, but must be used as part of a larger package and not in isolation. Two

aspects of the financial sphere of consideration require further attention. The rising cost of a medical education will exacerbate current physician shortages. Likewise, the deregulation of tuition fees will reinforce an image of medical education as being for the wealthy and elite members of society.

Finally, a note about compensation. Compensation can be made in more than financial ways. Clearly, the respondents with whom I spoke support the notion put forth by Pope et al. (1998) that we need to rethink the definition of the word. Both the literature and the interviews I conducted demonstrate that physicians who stay in rural practice feel that the benefits outweigh the drawbacks. They do not express a need for compensation, for they are rewarded by the work itself. Reducing rural practice to a question of compensation betrays its unique and appreciable characteristics.

### 5.1.2 Recommendations for Rural Communities

Communities should not expect financial incentives to single-handedly solve their recruitment problems. They must ensure that the doctor they recruit has interests in rural medicine beyond financial gain. A percentage of the money that is currently ear-marked for recruitment initiatives might, for example, be used to sponsor their students' medical school education.

#### 5.1.3 Recommendations for Governments

As I indicate throughout this thesis, the impact of the financial sphere on rural recruitment is over-emphasized. Financial incentives are likely a permanent component of rural physician recruitment. However, coercive measures are unacceptable and reflect a negative and damaging perception of rural medicine. Provincial and federal governments should re-invest the time, money and energy that is currently directed at this sphere in other spheres as indicated below. Governments should work with medical community to regulate tuition and decrease student debt. Likewise, governments should make debt easier to handle for students by, for example, giving them longer to pay it back interest-free.

## 5.1.4 Recommendations for the Medical Community

According to the results of my study, rural physicians feel adequately remunerated for their work. As a result I can make no specific recommendation to the medical community with respect to this sphere of consideration.

#### 5.1.5 Indications for Further Research

The use of financial incentives is widespread in this, and other, countries. Do financial incentives work to keep doctors in rural areas? I suggest, as do my respondents, that they do not. However, research is needed to more adequately answer this question.

In this thesis I suggest that the message portrayed through the frequent use of financial incentives is that rural practice is a burden and the only way that physicians would work in rural areas is if they are paid a lot of money. I suspect that physicians with little or no experience of rural medicine will be influenced by this negative image. Research is needed to explore the ideological message of financial incentives as well as to explore implications of that message. - the impact of financial incentives: how are they working? what is the ideological message?

## 5.2 Personal/Social Sphere of Consideration

### 5.2.1 Conclusions

In many ways, this is the sphere with the largest obstacles because it comes down to personal preference -- personality. Rural practice is different from urban practice, as the literature suggests and my respondents concur. Ultimately, it takes a person who enjoys those differences to choose rural practice. The personality of the physician must match the lifestyle. But more than that, in most cases the personality of the physician's spouse or partner and children must also match the lifestyle. This brings us back to the idea that we must recruit medical students from rural areas since they will be predisposed towards rural life because they are familiar with it. Social integration plays a tremendous role in the development of this compatibility. Taking on a high-profile social role in a small community

can be taxing for those physicians who are not prepared for playing a central role in the social dynamics of a small town.

### 5.2.2 Recommendations for Rural Communities

Rural communities play a role in the social integration of physicians. Community members must be active participants in facilitating this integration. Likewise, community members must be prepared for the arrival of a new physician. They must understand that a physician needs to leave behind her professional role when not working. Individual rural communities should work in tandem with the medical community to develop guidelines so as not to overtax a new physician.

When recruiting physicians, rural communities must also think of the physician's spouse or partner and families. Are there employment opportunities for the spouse or partner? What educational opportunities exist for children? When a community reaches out to a physician, families must be included.

### 5.2.3 Recommendations for Governments

Rural physicians are concerned about available facilities in rural communities and governments can provide funds to support community development projects. Some examples

of important resources for the community are: schools, camps, internet access, libraries, and youth programmes.

## 5.2.4 Recommendations for the Medical Community

The medical community should work with rural communities to help them explore their needs and expectations of physicians. They should also work together to determine appropriate boundaries so that the physician will maintain a sense of privacy. To do so, a liaison officer should be appointed at the Ontario Medical Association to work with rural communities, individual doctors and the medical community

### 5.2.5 Indications for Further Research

How does the social role of doctor differ between rural and urban communities? What are the social and personal implications of a change in that role? How do doctors relate with other medical personnel? How do doctors and medical personnel relate to members of the community? These are research questions that should be addressed.

91

## 5.3 Professional Sphere of Consideration

#### 5.3.1 Conclusions

One of the reasons that I interviewed so few practicing rural physicians is because they were too busy to speak with me. The initial response that I had to my request for participants was good. People were interested, but it was difficult to find a time that was convenient to do the interview. Rural physicians tend to have very demanding and somewhat unpredictable schedules, so even if we made an appointment there would be no guarantee that an emergency of some sort would not arise and impede even our very best efforts to connect. Hectic schedules are one characteristic of the profile of rural practice. Another profile characteristic of rural medicine is that it is distinct from urban practice. The difference between urban and rural medicine is seen primarily in: the broad scope of rural practice, the lack of support that rural physicians face, and the nature of the doctor-patient relationship. Rural health care must take its place as a viable specialty of family medicine and medical students interested in pursuing a career in rural health must be trained accordingly.

Professional isolation is a great concern among my respondents, as it is in the literature. However, this is a good example of how physicians can see the same situation very differently depending on their experience and perspective. Most of my respondents viewed the isolation as independence. Contrary to being overwhelming, they saw it as a challenge. I propose that physicians who feel confident in their medical skills will be more open to that

challenge. Confidence, I believe, develops from experience and training. Therefore, physicians who are trained for the specific rigours of rural medicine will feel more confident of their skills.

Part of the unique and distinctive nature that my respondents spoke of is that rural practice is more varied and interested. They also spoke of a different, more intimate, relationship with their patients than urban doctors have. Does this imply that rural doctors care for their patients differently? When rural residents get care, is it of a higher quality?

### 5.3.2 Recommendations for Rural Communities

The suggestion made by Barer and Stoddart (as discussed in Chapter Two) that the practice of basic medical services be opened to other people is one that I address fully in Section 5.3.4. That recommendation obviously has implications for rural communities. Under such a model, rural citizens will be responsible for providing basic services. Doing so requires a great deal of organization and training that requires, above all, dedication on the part of interested community members.

### 5.3.3 Recommendations for Governments

Governments must stop all coercive measures, including forced service and restricting billing numbers. Not only do coercive measures fail to solve the crisis of rural

recruitment, they exacerbate the problem by enforcing a negative stereotype of rural medicine that is inaccurate. This thesis is predicated on the assumption that the physician must be the centre of any health care model. That assumption may need to be challenged in order to create sustainable rural health care solutions. If physician recruitment continues to be a problem, will we not be forced to adjust that model to make room for other health care workers? What is the most appropriate and beneficial role for nurse practitioners to play in a rural health model? Might opening up licensing to other medical personnel be required? What aspects of the physicians' current role may be supplemented by other health care professionals? The application and impact of these changes warrant substantial investigation.

## 5.3.4 Recommendations for the Medical Community

Nowhere is the medical community's role in solving the crisis in rural health care more evident than in the professional sphere of consideration. The medicine that is taught and practiced in Ontario, and the rest of the country, has an urban bias that is detrimental to the health of rural Canadians. Rural medicine must be acknowledged as a specialty of family practice. Making rural medicine a sub-specialty will validate its differences thereby changing its negative image. Specializing rural medicine will also make room for changes in medical education. Students who are interested in rural practice need to feel confident in more skills than do students pursuing an urban practice. They must be trained to work in rural settings. Additionally, rural physicians work within a doctor-patient relationship that is more familiar than its urban counterpart. Rural physicians have a fuller knowledge of their patients) are

likely to know their patients better than urban doctors because they know them in various capacities and not just as a patient. Rural physicians can and should be prepared to deal with those differences.

### 5.3.5 Indications for Further Research

Many rural physicians (or aspiring rural physicians) believe that the quality of care that people receive in rural settings is better than the care that people receive in urban settings. Two reasons explain this perception. First, rural care is less fragmented. Rural physicians seem to follow their patients through a broader spectrum of their health care experiences than do urban physicians. Second, the doctor-patient relationship in a rural area is not limited to a professional one. Doctors and patients interact socially and therefore know one another better than they might in an urban setting. One hypothesis worth exploring is that health care in rural areas is harder to get, but that when people do get it, it is better because it is more personalized care than they would get in an urban centre. If rural care is better then does that not have implications for the way that care is structured in urban centres? Does that mean that city dwellers should have the kind of relationship with their family doctor that people in rural areas do?

As mentioned in Section 5.3.4, the profile of rural medicine within the broader medical community needs to be changed. There is a bias against rural medicine, and the main thing we can do to change that bias is to make rural medicine a specialty. There needs to be

more research done to investigate how this could happen and what the obstacles are that prevent it from happening

# 5.4 Educational Sphere of Consideration

### 5.4.1 Conclusions

Early exposure to rural practice was important for my respondents, as it is argued in much of the literature. Threatening that exposure is the pressure on medical students to make major career decisions very early in their training. My respondents added something that I did not come across in the literature. Early exposure, some said, was also beneficial for students who would never practice in a rural area. Might this indicate that the process of professionalization differs somewhat between regions? As medical students complete their education, they learn the scientific rules that govern the art and practice of medicine. They also learn the norms that govern the profession of medicine. For example, medical students learn that they must be emotionally detached from their patients. In urban areas, medical students compete with one another to gain experience. Learning is often by watching. In rural areas, according to my respondents, students are brought into the inner-circle with the attending physician. Learning is by watching and doing. In short, the type of training that occurs in a rural area differs from training in urban centres because students are more involved. That implies that the hierarchy within the physician's world is less pronounced and rigid in rural areas.

Physicians of rural origin, as has been discussed several times in this chapter and this thesis, are more likely to stay in rural practice than are their urban counterparts. I suggest some reasons why this may be so in Section 5.2.1. If rural high school students are to be recruited for medical school, they need first to see medical school as a viable option. I recommend below that rural communities, governments and the medical community work together to reach those students.

Youth out-migration is a huge problem in many rural communities. One of the main reasons that youth cite for leaving their communities is that there are no jobs available for them. Perhaps if more rural students saw medicine as a viable career choice, we could work towards solving both problems of youth out-migration and rural physician recruitment.

### 5.4.2 Recommendations for Rural Communities

Exposing rural high school students to the possibility of practicing medicine and preparing them to do so should be the mandate of rural communities. Inviting physicians to speak to high school students, taking students on medical tours, and other special events support the goal of exposing and preparing students for a career in medicine. Communities should work with governments and the medical community to achieve these goals.

#### 5.4.3 Recommendations for Governments

Governments should work with rural communities and the medical community to encourage rural high school students to pursue a career in rural medicine. Funding and organizational support can be provided for exchanges between high school students and physicians.

## 5.4.4 Recommendations for the Medical Community

Medical schools should recruit medical students from rural areas and they should adequately train the students that they do have. Early exposure to rural medicine in medical school is important and medical schools must ensure that all students have the opportunity to consider a career in rural practice. Creating that opportunity also means that the pressure on students to make major decisions early in their education must be eased. These steps are the first in ensuring that the urban bias in medical schools be addressed and changed. Physicians trained in a social context that is hostile to rural medicine will be likewise hostile.

#### 5.4.5 Indications for Further Research

Is the process of professionalization in rural areas different than the process in urban areas? What are the implications of a possible difference? What barriers, if any, stand in the way of rural high school students who wish to pursue a career in rural medicine? How can

medical school be made accessible to these students? What impact will that have on rural recruitment? All of these questions emerge from my research as worthy of investigation. I suggest, in Section 5.4.1, that encouraging rural youth to pursue a career in medicine may be a step towards solving problems of youth out-migration in addition to improving rural physician recruitment. The existence and impact of this relationship also warrants investigation.

Five research questions guided my research: What issues are cited in the literature regarding rural physician recruitment and retention? What issues are cited regarding rural recruitment and retention by physicians and medical students? To what extent are these issues congruent and comprehensive? What is a useful framework for research into rural recruitment and retention? What is a useful framework for policy suggestions to improve the present situation of rural recruitment and retention? This chapter has been devoted to answering those questions within the context of four Spheres of Consideration.

Underlying many of the struggles and concerns expressed by my respondents is a question of the legitimacy, perceived or otherwise, of rural medicine within the dominant medical structure. Rural medicine must be legitimized if physicians are to see rural practice as a viable career choice. Without that legitimacy, rural medicine will not be able to occupy enough space in medical schools to adequately prepare physicians for rural practice. As an exploratory study, this thesis has raised many questions that await further investigation.

Health care was a dominant topic of discussion in the most recent Canadian election. Among the topics being debated by party leaders and the Canadians public was the question: 'What is the future of Medicare in Canada?'. Many Canadians are concerned that our Medicare system is deteriorating into a two-tier system, a system where money shortens waiting times for tests and essential medical procedures. This thesis has demonstrated that a two-tier health care system already does exist in Canada. While we fight off the implementation of a financially-based two-tier system, a geographically based two-tier system has already replaced the universality of 'our' Medicare. The Canadian health care system is in crisis, how much longer will it take for us to respond?

#### References

# Armstrong, Pat et al.

1994 "Take care: warning signal's for Canada's health system." In Armstrong and Armstrong (eds.), Health Care in Canada Toronto: Garamond Press.

## Bonner, Kieran

1997 A Great Place to Raise Kids: Interpretation, Science, and the Urban-Rural Debate

Montreal-Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.

## Blumenthal, Daniel S.

1994 "Geographic imbalances of physician supply: an international comparison."

<u>Journal of Rural Health.</u> 10 (2): 109-18

## Burke, Ronald J.

1996 "Stress, satisfaction, and militancy among Canadian physicians: A longitudinal investigation." Social Science and Medicine 43: 517-524.

## CMA (Canadian Medical Association)

1997a "If you train rural, residents stay rural." <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u>.
7(3): 5.

1997b "The Realities of Rural Practice." Canadian Medical Association Journal. 7(3): 4.

1999 <u>Canadian Medical Forum Task Force on Physician Supply</u>. available on the Internet www.cma.ca/advocacy/taskforce; accessed September 26, 2000.

# Coburn, David, Susan Rappolt, and Ivy Bourgeault

1997 "Decline vs. Retention of medical power through restratification: An examination of the Ontario case." Sociology of Health and Illness 19: 1-22.

## Conte, Susan J. et al.

1992 "Rural community and physician perspectives on resource factors affecting physician retention." <u>Journal of Rural Health</u>. 8 (3): 185-196.

# Cook, Clarissa, and Gary Easthope

1996 "Symptoms of a crisis? Trust, risk, and medicine." <u>Australian and New Zealand</u>

<u>Journal of Sociology</u>. 32 (3): 85-98.

## Crandall, Lee A. et al.

"Recruitment and retention of rural physicians: issues for the 1990s." <u>Journal of Rural Health</u>. 6 (1): 19-38.

## Cutchin, Malcolm P.

"Community and self: Concepts for rural physician integration and retention."

<u>Social Science and Medicine</u> 44: 1661-1674.

## Cutchin, Malcolm P. et al.

"To stay or not to stay: issues in rural primary care physician retention in Eastern Kentucky." The Journal of Rural Health. 10: 273-278.

## Dasgupta, Satadal

1996 "Rural community types." in Satadal Dasgupta, ed. <u>The Community in Canada:</u>

<u>Rural and Urban</u>. Lanham: University Press of America.

## Easterbrook, Mark et al.

1999 "Rural background and clinical rural rotations training: effect on practice location." Canadian Medical Association Journal 160: 1159-63.

## Freidson, Eliot

1970 Profession of Medicine: A Study of the Sociology of Applied Knowledge. New York: Dodd, Mead, and Company.

## Hardy, Gil

1998 "Out of Step." The Medical Post 2: 8+.

## Health Canada

- nd What do rural and remote mean? available on the Internet

  http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ruralhealth/; accessed September 21, 2000.
- 1997 "Canada's Health System." available on the Internet www.hc-sc.gc.ca; accessed September 19, 1998.
- "Health Minister to create rural Executive Director position." available on the Internet www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ruralhealth; accessed March 3, 1998.
- "Health Canada Fact Sheet: Innovations in rural and community health". available on the Internet www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ruralhealth/#about; accessed November 20, 2000.

## Henderson, R.W.

"Staffing rural hospitals: strategies for survival." <u>Canadian Family Physician</u>. 42: 1057-1059.

## Howard, Ross

1998 "B.C. rural doctors' strike may harm government." Globe and Mail 2 Feb.: A5.

## Krause, Elliot A.

1996 <u>Death of the Guilds: Professions, States, and the Advance of Capitalism, 1930 to the Present.</u> Boston: Yale University Press.

## Kingsmill, Suzanne

1997 "Is rural medicine a discipline?" Canadian Journal of Rural Medicine. 2: 141-142

## Leduc, Eugene

1997 "Defining rurality: a General Practice Rurality Index for Canada." Canadian

Journal of Rural Medicine. 2 (2): 125-31.

## Lupton, Deborah

1997 "Doctors on the medical profession." Sociology of Health

## MacLellan, Keith

1996 "President's Message." Canadian Journal of Rural Medicine. 1 (2): 58.

## Montgomery, Kathleen

1992 "Professional dominance and the threat of corporatization." <u>Current Research on Occupations and Professions</u> 7: 221-240.

## Moores, David G. et al.

1998 "Preparing for rural practice: enhanced experience for medical students and residents." Canadian Family Physician. 44: 1045-1050.

#### National Forum on Health

1997 <u>Canada Health Action: Building on the Legacy vols I & II</u>. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government services.

# OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development)

1994 Creating Rural Indicators for Shaping Territorial Policy. Paris: OECD.

## OMA (Ontario Medical Association)

1997 OMAPS Rural Placement Program. Toronto: OMA.

1997 Continuing Medical Association. Toronto: OMA.

## OMH (Ontario Ministry of Health)

1997 "Access to quality health care in rural and Northern Ontario" The Rural and

Northern Health Care Framework. available on the Internet

www.gov.on.ca/health/english/pub/ministry/ruralca.html; accessed November 25

1997.

# OReilly, Michael

- 1994 "Bitter physicians react angrily to uncertain future facing rural medicine."

  <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u>. 150: 571-3.
- 1997 "Medical recruitment in rural Canada: Marathon breaks the cycle." <u>Canadian</u>

  <u>Medical Association Journal</u>. 156: 1593-6.

## Pathman, Donald E., et al.

1996 Rural physician satisfaction: its sources and relationship to retention." <u>Journal of Rural Health</u>. 12 (5): 366-77.

## Pope, Alison S.A., et al.

1998 "Retention of rural physicians: tipping the decision-making scales." <u>Canadian</u>

<u>Journal of Rural Medicine</u>. 3(4): 209-16.

# PAIRO (Professional Association of Internes and Residents of Ontario)

1997 <u>Progress and Direction: Physician Recruitment and Retainment in Rural and Northern Ontario</u> Toronto: n.p.

## Rabinowitz, Howard K., et al.

1999 "A program to increase the number of family physicians in rural and underserviced areas." <u>Journal of the American Medical Association</u> 281 (3): 255-260.

## Quinn, Mark

"Tuition costs may help place docs where needed." <u>Medical Post</u>. May 26: 34 (2): 6.

# Rourke, Leslie L., James Rourke, and Judith Belle Brown

"Women family physicians and rural medicine: Can the grass be greener in the country?" Canadian Family Physician 42: 1063-1069.

## Rourke, James

- 1996 "Postgraduate training for rural family practice: goals and opportunities."

  <u>Canadian Family Physician</u> 42: 1133-8.
- 1993 "Politics of rural health care: recruitment and retention of physicians." Canadian

  Medical Association Journal 148: 1281-1284.

## Scott, G.

1995 Report of the fact finder on the issue of small/rural hospital emergency

department physician service. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Health, Ontario

Hospital Association, Ontario Medical Association.

## SRPC (Society of Rural Physicians of Canada)

- "Recruitment and retention: consensus of the conference participants, Banff 1996." Canadian Journal of Rural Medicine. 2: 28-31.
- "Nurse practitioners and rural medicine: Voices from the field." Society of Rural

  Physicians of Canada Annual Policy Conference. St. John's (conference proceedings).
- 1999 "Comparative Regional Statistics." available on the Internet www.srpc.ca; accessed November 20, 2000.

## **Statistics Canada**

1999 "How far to the nearest physician?" Rural and Small Town Canada Analysis

Bulletin. 1(5).

## Strauss, Anselm L.

1975 Professions, Work and Careers. New Jersey: Transaction Books.

## Tepper, Joshua D. and James T. Rourke

1999 "Recruiting rural doctors: ending a Sisyphean task." <u>Canadian Medical</u>
<u>Association Journal</u> 160: 1173-4.

The House: The Week in National Politics. Canadian Broadcasting Corporation

Radio One, Montreal. 14 Feb. 1998.

## Whiteside, Carl and Rick Mathias

"Training for rural practice: are graduates of a UBC program well prepared?"

Canadian Family Physician 42: 1113-1121.

## Williams, A. Paul, et al.

1995 "Medicine and the Canadian state: From the politics of conflict to the politics of Accommodation." <u>Journal of Health and Social Behavior</u> 36: 303-321.

## Wilson, Barry

1999 "Rural doctor relishes sense of community." Western Producer. May 27. avaliable on the Internet

www.producer.com/articles/19990527/farm\_living/19990527/fl01.html; accessed September 26, 2000 .

# World Organization of Family Doctors (WONCA)

1995 <u>Policy on Training for Rural Practice</u>. Victoria: Monash University Centre for Rural Health.

#### APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW GUIDE

# [TO BE READ AT THE VERY BEGINNING OF THE INTERVIEW]

Hello, this is Jennifer Perzow. Thank you again for agreeing to speak with me. Before we continue, I'd like to know if you would mind if I tape record this conversation. (That will make it easier for me to reflect on your comments). [Start tape now] As you know, I am doing research for my Master's Thesis on the retention of physicians in rural Ontario. The interview should last roughly 30 minutes. I will first read through a consent form with you, to satisfy the requirements of my ethics committee. Then we'll go through a few questions and end with some basic demographic information. Does that sound okay? Please feel free to stop me at any point if you have any questions or concerns.

## CONSENT FORM TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

I agree to participate in a program of research being conducted by Jennifer Perzow as part of her Master's Degree under the supervision of Dr. Bill Reimer of the Department of Sociology and Anthropology at Concordia University.

#### A. PURPOSE

I have been informed that the purpose of the research is to explore the factors that improve the retention rates of physicians in rural Ontario.

# B. PROCEDURES

I have been informed that this research will be conducted via telephone interview during which time I will be asked questions about my personal feelings regarding medical practice. I understand that the interview is expected to last 30 minutes, although I may extend that time if I wish.

## C. CONDITIONS OF PARTICIPATION

- I understand that I am free to withdraw my consent and discontinue my participation at any time without negative consequences. I am under no obligation to answer any questions that I do not feel comfortable answering.
- I understand that my participation in this study is confidential (ie. the researcher will know, but will not disclose my identity).
- I understand that the data from this study may be published.
- I understand the purpose of this study and know that there is no hidden motive of which I have not been informed.

HAVING READ THAT INFORMATION, DO YOU CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS INTERVIEW?

# **DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION**

1. In what year were you born?		
2. What is your Marital Status?		
3. Do you have any children		
[if no, move to question 4]		
[if yes move to question 3a]		
3a. How many children do you have?		
3b. What are the ages of your children?		
4. Have you ever lived in a rural area before? When	and for how long?	
5. Where did you do your medical training? What tra	aining did you do?	
6. I will provide you with four income categories. Pl	ease choose the catego	ory that best
represents your annual gross income:		
A: \$0-19 999 B: \$20 000 - 49 999	C: \$50 000 - 74 999	D: \$75 000+

## **INTERVIEW QUESTIONS**

## **QUESTION 1:**

What sparked your interest in rural practice?

Probes:

childhood experience, popular media, professor, colleague, family, financial incentives, rural experience, medical training

## **QUESTION 2:**

What factors were most influential in deciding to try rural practice?

Probes:

Did knowing you'd receive more money influence your decision to practice in a rural community?

Before your medical training, had you ever lived in a rural area? [If yes] For how many years? In which country? If Canada, in which province? Had you intended to return to a rural community?

What aspects of rural life do you find attractive? What aspects of rural life do you find unattractive?

What are your plans for your professional career?

Is a rural practice an asset or impediment to your professional aspirations?

Was it your choice to be in rural practice? At what stage in your career did you make this choice? Was it your first choice? Why or why not?

## **QUESTION 3:**

What factors were most influential in deciding to stay in/leave rural practice?

Probes:

Is your partner employed in or near the community in which you live?

Do you think that your partner is content or not content living in a rural area?

How do you think that your partner feels about your rural practice being in a rural area? Have your partner's feelings about rural practice influenced your own feelings about rural practice? Did your children grow up in this community? Do your children attend a school(s) in your community or in another community? What schools are there for children in this area? (ie. elementary, high school, college, university) Is there a choice of schools in your area? How do you rate the quality of those schools? Why? To what schools are you comparing them? What are the advantages for your children in the schools in this region? What are the disadvantages? Do you feel that this community is typical of rural communities with respect to raising children? Why or why not? Is there adequate child care available in the community? How often do/did you use child care services? (ie. baby sitting, day care) What type of transportation is available for children/teenagers? Do you feel that your children are content living in a rural area? To what extent are your children integrated into the community? Examples? Have your children's feelings about rural living influenced your own feelings about rural practice?

Are you currently receiving financial compensation?

Is it a factor in your staying or not?

In what way has being a rural physician influenced your professional aspirations?

#### **QUESTION 4:**

What do you consider to be the major advantages of having a rural practices? of being a rural physician?

Does having children affect your decision to stay in or leave a rural community? [If yes] In what ways?

Probes:

Did you receive financial compensation for establishing a rural practice?

What aspects of rural practice are the most satisfying? What aspects of rural practice are the least satisfying?

## **OUESTION 5:**

What do you consider to be the major disadvantages of having a rural practice? of being a rural physician?

Probes:

Do you feel that you have adequate professional support? Why or why not?

Do you have time to maintain a program of CME (Continuing Medical Education)? Do you have access to CME opportunities? How often do you participate?

## **QUESTION 6:**

When you started your rural practice, did you feel prepared or unprepared for rural medical practice? In what ways prepared? In what ways unprepared?

Probes:

In your undergraduate medical training, did you have any exposure to rural practice?

Did you discuss rural medicine in your courses?

Did you spend time working in a rural community (ie. during the summer, as part of an elective?)

Did you find this training to be useful or not useful? In what ways?

At the time that you first started rural practice, what part of your training did you find particularly appropriate for rural practice?

## **QUESTION 7:**

Do you feel that rural practice is different from or similar to urban practice? In what ways are they different? In what ways are they similar?

Probes:

What types of professional support do you require in your rural practice? (ie. specialists to whom you can refer patients, laboratory facilities, hospital privileges)

What types of professional support do you have?

## **QUESTION 8:**

What suggestions so you have to improve the retention rates of physicians in rural

Ontario?

Probes:

Should the government be using financial incentive programmes to get and keep more doctors in rural practice? Why or why not?

What other things could be done to recruit rural physicians? To retain rural physicians?

## **QUESTION 9:**

Is there anything that I did not ask that you would like to comment upon?

#### WRAP-UP

I would like to thank you one more time for agreeing to participate in this interview. Your participation has been instrumental in this study. If you think of anything that you would like to add, or any other comments that you would like to make, then feel free to contact

me. If I have any questions about what you've said, would it be okay if I contacted you for a confirmation? Would you like me to keep you updated as to the progress that I am making with respect to my research and thesis? Thank you very much!

119